CHAIRMAN’S
REPORT

To fully evaluate the options provided in the Stage 1 report the State
Government approved the undertaking of Stage 2 by the MST. Included
in the terms of reference was the requirement to consider the Subiaco
Oval Redevelopment Plan and also to consider the management of the
venues with due recognition of current agreements, usage levels, past
contributions and future opportunities.
Throughout the Stage 2 process the WAFC has committed to cooperate
with the MST. The Commission, which represents the 80,000 players,
46,000 volunteers, 70,000 WA AFL club members and numerous
followers of football in Western Australia, has a responsibility to ensure
that football will be no worse off under any new stadium arrangements.
Similarly, the Taskforce and the Government have committed to ensure
that football is no worse off.
WA football has fought for the past 100 years to achieve the positive
position it now enjoys, with two successful AFL clubs and a successfully
managed stadium. After some difficult times football now has a positive
outlook for the future and accordingly it is important that football can
continue to maintain this positive outlook under any new stadium
arrangements.

The strength of football in Western Australia was given a great fillip
with the West Coast Eagles beating Sydney to win the AFL grand
final and Fremantle Football Club falling one win short of making it
an all-West Australian grand final.
As well as their great on-field success in 2006, both clubs were just
as successful on the other side of the fence.
West Coast recorded a 2006 trading profit of $4.7million, while the
Dockers announced a 2006 operating profit of $1.2million, the third
consecutive year of million-dollar-plus operating profits and the
fourth consecutive year of operating profits for the club.

As a not-for-profit sports association the WAFC has a responsibility
to ensure that grassroots football is supported. Funds raised from
West Coast, Fremantle and Subiaco Oval are directly applied to the
development of the game throughout the State. It is therefore important
that our two AFL clubs maintain their positive financial position, which
is largely a result of the stadium arrangements and is envied by other
clubs in the AFL.

The success of the Eagles and Dockers was further proof of football’s
position as WA’s premier participation and spectator sport.

Part of the Stage 2 process has involved the Commission negotiating
with the Taskforce in relation to governance arrangements. At the
time of writing we are yet to agree on a governance model. Whilst
the Commission is committed to ensure that football’s position is
maintained, there is also a strong awareness of the requirement for
the State to protect its significant investment in facilities.

In terms of participation, the WAFC completed a comprehensive
review of its participation numbers in Australia’s national game
mid-way through 2006 and the figures were surging in every vital
category.

Throughout the latter half of 2006 the Commission has been working
on a further development plan for Subiaco Oval that incorporates a
rebuild of Subiaco Oval. It is intended that this option be presented as
one of the major options of the Taskforce.

Maintaining the health of the WAFL competition has been a priority
of the WAFC and the increasing addition of quality coaches into the
system has enabled the competition to maintain a strong playing
and operating standard.

In 2005 the potential impact of the new Super 14s rugby franchise, the
Western Force, was flagged as a concern. Following the first year, where
rugby attracted high levels of membership and corporate support, it is
pleasing to report that there has been little discernible impact on our AFL
clubs. This is no doubt a result of the good work being undertaken by the
clubs in retaining their support at both member and corporate level.

The likes of well-recognised and well-respected past players Chris
Waterman (Peel Thunder) and Todd Curley (West Perth) joined
the WAFL league coaching ranks and each imparted a wealth of
knowledge onto their senior, junior and development players.
Subiaco is to be congratulated for its dominant performance against
South Fremantle in the WAFL grand final. The Lions, coached by Peter
German, were an awesome force to be reckoned with throughout the
season and proved unbeatable on the big stage of grand final day.
One of the most challenging issues facing the WA Football
Commission in recent years is the redevelopment of Subiaco Oval
and the work being done by the State Government appointed Major
Stadia Taskforce (MST).
The WAFC masterplan for the redevelopment of Subiaco Oval was
issued in May 2006, while the MST Stage 1 report was issued in April
2006. The WAFC masterplan provided for a high-class development
of Subiaco Oval at a cost of $235million. This incorporated an
upgrading of the current northern stand and two-tier stand and
rebuilding the three-tier stand.
The MST report’s key recommendations included:
a) that a new stadium be developed in Perth at either the East Perth
Power Station site or at Kitchener/Mueller Park, with consideration
being given to the Subiaco Oval redevelopment; and
b) if the State Government was to provide any funds for the
development of major facilities in Perth that the stadium should be
under the governance of an independent body.
Following the Stage 1 report the Government advised that there
was a potential for the development of a new stadium. Ultimately
the price of this facility was revealed to be in the order of $1billion.

Following consultation with the AFL and the AFL clubs, the Commission
has adopted a two-stadium policy for the development of facilities in
Perth, whereby a purpose-built rectangular stadium is recommended
for rugby in addition to an oval stadium that can accommodate cricket
and other blockbuster events.
In 2007 the MST will hand down its report to State Government,
providing options for the development of major facilities in Perth.
The Commission is committed to ensuring that football’s position
is protected and that the Government’s investment in facilities can
represent true community benefit.
It is important to acknowledge the efforts of our 46,000 volunteers who
support the fabric of our game. Rick Hart and Cameron Schwab from
the Fremantle Football Club and Dalton Gooding and Trevor Nisbett
from the West Coast Eagles, Colin Rockman as Chairman of the Council
of WAFL presidents and the other WAFL presidents, and the district
council chairpersons and committees are to be congratulated on the
outstanding work undertaken in 2006. The boards and staff of the AFL
and WAFL clubs are also to be congratulated on their commitment and
performance during 2006. The Commission is grateful for the strong
support of these groups throughout the year.
In 2006 Brian Beresford and Tim Lyons retired from their roles
as Commissioners of the West Australian Football Commission,
having served for five and seven years respectively. They provided
an outstanding contribution to the WAFC during their tenure as
Commissioners and they can be proud of their efforts in being a part
of the improved position of football in Western Australia.
Neale Fong
Chairman
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GROWING
THE GAME
WAFC Strategic Plan 2006-2008
MISSION:

To Grow the Game
To enhance and promote Australian football throughout the community, encouraging greater levels
of participation, enjoyment and commitment by individuals, community groups, business and
government

STADIUM MANAGER

To develop and maintain Subiaco Oval to meet the needs of users and generate funds for football.
Measurable Outcome 1
Subiaco Oval is maintained as the premier stadium in WA
Measurable Outcome 2
A redevelopment project is initiated for Subiaco Oval

WAFL COMPETITION MANAGER AND
ADMINISTRATION SERVICES

The WAFL to be an efficient, relevant, even, premier state league competition that has an active role
in developing the game

Measurable Outcome 1

WAFL is a pivotal component of the community football structure

Measurable Outcome 2
02

WAFL is the premier state league sporting competition and is an aspirational and developmental
competition

Measurable Outcome 3

Sound financial models developed for all WAFL Clubs

AFL LICENCES

To support and oversee the WCE and FFC Boards to enable our two AFL Clubs to be successful
Measurable Outcome
FFC and WCE are successful organizations

INDUSTRY DIRECTION

The WAFL to provide leadership as a planner, strategist, financial and people manager
Measurable Outcome 1
High quality people development programs established for all levels of football
Measurable Outcome 2
Facilities development to meet the needs of football
Measurable Outcome 3
Policies and strategies established for the development of the game
Measurable Outcome 4
A sound financial model maintained for the football industry
Measurable Outcome 5
WAFC is open and accountable to stakeholders

GOVERNMENT AND STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIPS
Optimise relationships within football and with key stakeholders
Measurable Outcome 1
Positive relationship with government and stakeholders
Measurable Outcome 2
Football presented in a positive light

PARTICIPATION

Participation, community football and talent pathway initiatives
Measurable Outcome 1
Increased presence and impact of football in primary and secondary schools
Measurable Outcome 2
Increased club accessibility for participants
Measurable Outcome 3
Quality club environments
Measurable Outcome 4
Improved coaching and umpiring programs
Measurable Outcome 5
Increased participation by females and ethnic groups

CEO'S
REPORT
On a sad note we wish to recognise the passing of WAAFL general
manager Ron Webster who made an outstanding contribution
through all levels of football as a player, administrator and mentor.
He is sadly missed.

AFL

The AFL has been a great supporter of the WAFC in recent years.
Among other things the AFL has provided assistance in the
development of our strategic plan, supported the Subiaco Oval
redevelopment project and provided much-needed finances to
assist in the development of the game. The close link in these areas
is gratefully acknowledged and the Commission looks forward to
strengthening this relationship.

SUBIACO OVAL

The primar y challenge for the year was the focus on the
redevelopment of Subiaco Oval. It is imperative that the ageing
facilities at Subiaco Oval and the capacity constraints are addressed
in order to provide West Australian people with the opportunity to
attend the football.

Football at every level continues to grow at a rapid rate, from the West
Coast Eagles and Fremantle Football Club through to community and
junior football. On-field performances are being matched by off-field
performances, while the redevelopment of Subiaco Oval remains a key
management issue for the West Australian Football Commission.

WAFC

The year 2006 was an exciting one for football in Western Australia,
highlighted by the outstanding performances of the West Coast Eagles
and the Fremantle Football Club and culminating in West Coast winning
the 2006 premiership. Both clubs performed at an extremely high level
off the field, matching their on-field performances.
The support of our major sponsor Foster’s Australia is greatly
appreciated. A strong partnership has been built on the “all of football”
sponsorship with Foster’s. The support of Coca-Cola and the State
Government through the Department of Sport and Recreation is
gratefully acknowledged.
At a community level football continued to make strong growth,
with the new development model starting to bear the fruits of the
restructuring and change in culture, resulting in an overall improvement
in participation of approximately nine percent.
The WAFL competition continued to grow in stature with improved
levels of administration accompanying the increased attendances
for the year.
As indicated in the Chairman’s report, a key issue for football in
Western Australia in 2006 was the consideration by the Major Stadia
Taskforce of the new stadium for Western Australia. The WAFC
masterplan was released in May and this plan provided the basis of
the strong vision for the future for the development of Subiaco Oval
as the major stadium.
From football’s perspective it is imperative that the stadium
arrangements that currently exist at Subiaco Oval are maintained
into the future. Our two AFL clubs are the envy of all other clubs
within the competition due to the excellent stadium arrangements
that are in place. The increased profitability that arises as a result of
these arrangements flows through to the community. The WAFC, as
a not-for-profit sports association, distributes funds to its affiliates
and to programs in order to grow the game of football, which results
in a significant positive community impact.

The introduction of the Western Force at Subiaco Oval in 2006
presented few problems. Despite initial concerns that corporate
sales for the two AFL clubs might be eroded with another key player
in the market, these concerns did not eventuate. It appears that
the strong corporate support for the Western Force was achieved
through the introduction of new sponsors into the market and there
was little effect on the AFL clubs’ corporate support base. This was
also due to the AFL clubs’ strong relationships with their sponsors
and they are to be congratulated on the efforts they have made in
order to maintain their strong corporate support.
There were initial operational problems for the first Western Force
game, largely due to the new liquor licensing approval that had been
implemented for Subiaco Oval. These new arrangements resulted
in reduced operational effectiveness: fortunately the Director of
Liquor Licensing saw fit to amend these initial conditions to enable
Subiaco Oval to be able to operate at the required level. Subsequent
games were conducted at much greater operational effectiveness
due to the changes in the liquor licensing conditions.
The WAFC has now entered into a further agreement with the
Western Force for the use of Subiaco Oval following the one-year
approval in 2006. The new agreement provides for the use of Subiaco
Oval by rugby in 2007 and 2008, with an option for 2009. The rental
funds from rugby in 2006 were set aside for the development of
football in Western Australia and will assist us in delivering the best
possible product to the community.
Also held at the oval during the year was the Australian Rugby Union
international match between Australia and Ireland on June 24.
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FOOTBALL

Great advances have been made in recent years by the WAFL
in recognising our collective role in improving standards and
growing the game. Colin Rockman in his role of Chairman of
Council of WAFL Presidents provided outstanding leadership
during 2006. The Council of WAFL Presidents has now
moved to a strategic group with a focus on enhancing the
game through big picture thinking. These operational issues
are now being managed to a high level by the WAFL Chief
Executives and Football Managers. The key outcome for the
Council of WAFL Presidents in 2006 was the finalisation of
the strategic Future Directions Report under the chairmanship
of Mr Rockman. This is the second Future Directions Report
and, like the first, it identifies key strategic initiatives to be
undertaken by the WAFL competition in order to position it
positively into the future.
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WEST COAST AND FREMANTLE

The West Coast Eagles went one better than 2005 in securing the 2006 AFL
premiership. Their rivalry with the Sydney Swans continued with a one-point
margin. West Coast recorded a trading profit of $4.7million for the season
and contributed $2.5million in royalties to the Commission, providing a
significant support to grassroots football in Western Australia.
Fremantle continued its improvement on and off the field in 2006, securing
a preliminary final berth. Off field the club recorded a profit of $1.2million
and continued to contribute funds to the Commission via rental of Subiaco
Oval, which increased by $500,000 in 2006. In 2007 the rentals of Fremantle
and West Coast will be equal for the first time and a royalty is now payable
by Fremantle. The progress made by Fremantle to achieve this position has
been outstanding in recent years and the club is to be congratulated on its
efforts. The Boards of both AFL clubs continued to provide outstanding
leadership.

The WAFL season was another encouraging one with increased
attendances and improved performances by teams. The WAFL
grand final was won by Subiaco, convincingly defeating South
Fremantle. Lions coach Peter German is to be congratulated
on turning out a strong Subiaco outfit in 2006.

A special thank you is extended to retiring Fremantle director Gary Berrell,
who served the club over the past five years, and member-elected Board
member Les Everett, who served for two years. Their places have been filled
on the Board by Wesfarmers CEO Richard Goyder and David Garic, who was
elected by the members to serve his second term.

Western Australia played South Australia on Friday 26 May
2006 at Adelaide Oval. Despite a gallant performance the
WA team was defeated by 14.14 (98) to 12.9 (81). Although
it was disappointing that we were unable to win the game,
the performance by the West Australian players highlighted
the improvement made by the competition and confirms the
direction of our State in promoting our young talent and our
own players.

COMMISSIONERS

The 2006 player draft was a successful one for Western
Australia, with 18 players being selected to join AFL lists.

Another very special thank you to Brian Beresford and Tim Lyons who retired
from their roles as Commissioners in 2006, having served for five and seven
years respectively.
As a result of the increased workload of the Commission it was resolved
to increase the size of the Board from six to seven Commissioners from
2007. Accordingly, following the departure of Brian and Tim, three new
Commissioners were elected by the football stakeholders – Frank Cooper,
Peter Gibbons and Rob McKenzie. All three men have outstanding credentials
to make a positive impact on football in Western Australia.

WAFC SOURCES OF FUNDS 2006

non football events 12%

afl club contribution 43%

SPONSORSHIP 12%

TRANSFERS 1%

AFL GRANT 7%
GATE 1%
OTHER 11%

CATERING 13%

Results Summary

2006 produced a better than budget performance by the WAFC in
both profit and loss and cash terms.
A profit of $836,000 represented an $820,000 increase to budget
and has been calculated after taking into effect the transition to
reporting under the Australian equivalents to International
Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS).
The profit and loss performance was reduced by approximately
$400,000 net of non cash entries associated with the transition.
WAFC’s generation of cash in 2006 was approximately $400,000
better than budget as additional revenue was achieved via AFL
finals and an increased royalty return from West Coast Eagles.

In cash terms, our reliance on the two AFL clubs represents 43%
of overall cash income. WAFC now has about $4million in non cash
revenue including prepayments for major sponsor Foster’s and the
State Government prepayment of the $30million receivable for the 1999
redevelopment of Subiaco Oval.
The 12% non football revenue secured provides some diversity for
WAFC if we ever have reduced returns from our two AFL Clubs however
there is continual focus on improving non AFL Club revenue.
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The key areas of improvement in the 2006 result were ;
Revenue from 3 home AFL finals
Increased royalty return from West Coast Eagles to budget
Reduced salary costs due to delay of appointments and leave
management
d) Reduced spend in legal costs and debt service (breakcosts)
e) Improved catering returns both in terms of crowds and dollar
spend per head
f) Meeting and exceeding Western Force revenue returns in year
one of competition
		

WAFC APPLICATION OF FUNDS 2006

a)
b)
c)

PROGRAMS & RESOURCES 29%
DEBT SERVICE 4%

SUBIACO OVAL 17%

OPERATING COSTS 12%

Investment and Debt Strategy

The strong financial performance enabled the WAFC to purchase
three properties on Subiaco Road directly adjacent to Subiaco Oval.
The properties were purchased for cash, are currently tenanted and
are expected to appreciate in value regardless of the final decision
on the location of the major stadium in Perth.
Following the prepayment of the State Government Subiaco Oval
contribution, the total debt for WAFC is now down to $10.4million.
This debt is managed on a quarterly hedge instrument that is due
to expire in August 2008. As a result of committing funds to the
acquisition of properties, it was decided not to repay further debt
during the year.

2007 Budget

Continuing revenue streams from the Western Force and improved
rent/royalty returns from Fremantle Football Club in 2007 has
allowed the WAFC to maintain all current programs and resources
and with the capacity to establish for the first time a Facilities Fund
and Club Development and Improvement Fund. The key for the
WAFC is to determine further annual contributions to both Funds
to maintain the impetus that the creation will develop.
In summary, the 2006 financial performance has been another
strong one and has allowed the WAFC to maintain and in some
cases increase investment back into community resourcing.

AFL CLUB
DISTRIBUTIONS 12%

GRANTS & DISTRIBUTIONS 19%

PROPERTIES 7%

Available cash over the past years has been apportioned to football
activities as opposed to debt servicing which is now at a much more
manageable 4%. Program and resource costs continue to be affected
by market forces in the labour market and are monitored continually.
Community spend via programs, resources and direct grants/
distributions is at 48% of all available cash for expenditure. These
funds were used in the areas of WAFL, country football, metropolitan
community and junior football and umpiring.
Available cash has also been used to purchase the three properties on
Subiaco Road and is therefore reflected above.
Wayne Bradshaw
Chief Executive
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WEST AUSTRALIAN
FOOTBALL HALL OF FAME
The West Australian Football Commission established the West Australian Football Hall
of Fame in 2002 to recognise and enshrine players, coaches, umpires, administrators
and media representatives who have made a significant contribution to the game of
Australian Football in Western Australia since its inception in 1885.
The Hall of Fame Selection Committee was established in 2003 for the purpose of
selecting inductees into the Hall of Fame under the criteria guidelines established by
the West Australian Football Commission.
Since the WA Football Hall of Fame’s inauguration, 99 individuals across four eras have
been inducted into the West Australian Football Hall of Fame and 11 individuals have
been elevated to the status of legend of WA Football.
The 2006 inductees were Charlie Tyson, Mick Cronin, Ted Kilmurray, Greg Brehaut,
Doug Green, Les Fong, Phil Narkle and Peter Matera. Graham Moss was elevated to
Legend status.

Inductees
1877-1900

Bill Bateman
Barney Grecian
Paddy Knox
Albert Thurgood

1901-1930

Reginald ‘Nashy’ Brentnall
Hugh ‘Bonny’ Campbell
David ‘Dolly’ Christy
Jim Craig
Henry ‘Ivo’ Crapp
Larry ‘Plum’ Duffy
Arthur Green
Carlisle ‘Bub’ Jarvis
Jack ‘Fat’ McDiarmid
Phil Matson
W.R. ‘Billy’ Orr
Tom Outridge
George ‘Staunch’ Owens
Valentine ‘Val’ Sparrow
William ‘Digger’ Thomas
W.J. ‘Nipper’ Truscott

1931-1960

Dick Buchanan
Haydn Bunton (Snr)
Fred Buttsworth
Jack Clarke
Sydney ‘Sammy’ Clarke
Deverick ‘Mick’ Cronin
George Doig
John ‘Jerry’ Dolan
Graham ‘Polly’ Farmer
Brian Foley
Keith Harper
Stan ‘Pops’ Heal
Ern Henfry
Sir Ross Hutchinson
Frank ‘Scranno’ Jenkins
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Player
Player
Player
Player

Player
Player
Player
Player
Umpire
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player
Administrator
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player

Media
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player/Coach
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player
Coach
Player

Laurie Kettlewell
Ted Kilmurray
John Leonard
Clive Lewington
Les McClements
Merv McIntosh
Steve Marsh
George Moloney
Bernie Naylor
Pat Rodriguez
Ray Schofield
Ray Scott
Jack Sheedy
Frank Sparrow
Wally Stooke
Max Tetley
Ted Tyson
Charlie Tyson

1961-2002

Ron Alexander
Mal Atwell
Ken Bagley
Greg Brehaut
Mal Brown
Gary Buckenara
Haydn Bunton (Jnr)
Bud Byfield
Barry Cable
Ross Capes
Derek Chadwick
Geoff Christian
Bill Dempsey
Ross Elliott
Mike Fitzpatrick
Les Fong
John Gerovich
Ross Glendinning
Doug Green
H.B. ‘Gra’ Grosvenor

Player
Player
Player/Coach
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player
Administrator
Player
Umpire
Player/Coach
Player
Administrator
Player
Player
Player

Player
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player/Coach
Administrator
Player
Umpire
Player
Media
Player
Media
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player
Administrator

Brad Hardie
Ken Hunter
Dean Kemp
John McIntosh
Guy McKenna
Chris Mainwaring
Stephen Malaxos
Denis Marshall
Peter Matera
Stephen Michael
Ray Montgomery
Graham Moss
Phil Narkle
Gerard Neesham
Brian Peake
Maurice Rioli
Austin Robertson (Jnr)
Norm Rogers
Keith Slater
Ray Sorrell
Peter Sumich
John Todd
Bill Walker
Mel Whinnen
Robert Wiley
John Worsfold

Legends
Barry Cable
George Doig
Graham ‘Polly’ Farmer
Merv McIntosh
Steve Marsh
George Moloney
Graham Moss
Jack Sheedy
John Todd
W.J. ‘Nipper’ Truscott
Bill Walker

Player
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player
Umpire
Player
Player
Player/Coach
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player
Player/Coach
Player
Player
Player
Player

sponsors
Throughout 2006, the West Australian Football Commission received excellent support from its many corporate partners, which is
invaluable to the delivery of services by the football industry.
The WAFC would like to thank its many partners for their wonderful contribution.
The future development and growth of football in WA is ensured with the assistance of the outstanding support of Foster’s Australia,
Coca-Cola Amatil, Healthway and the Department of Sport and Recreation.
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WEST AUSTRALIAN FOOTBALL
COMMISSION 0RGANISATIONAL CHART
WEST AUSTRALIAN FOOTBALL COMMISSION
Finance & ADMINISTRATION
SUBIACO OVAL

Indian Pacific Ltd
West Coast Eagles

Corporate
Relations

FOOTBALL

WAFL
Operations

Talent &
Coaching

Fremantle Football
Club Ltd

Education

Umpiring

WAFL CLUBS
Claremont FC
East Fremantle FC
East Perth FC
Peel Thunder FC
Perth FC
South Fremantle FC
Subiaco FC
Swan Districts FC
West Perth FC

AFL
Auskick

FACILITIES & PLANNING

Community
Development

Volunteers Multicultural Female
Football

Community Football Council
WAAFL
Sunday FL
WAFA
Women’s Football
Peel FL
Masters FL

Female
Football

WA Country
Football
League

2006 WAFC Staff
WAFC
Wayne Bradshaw – Chief Executive
Gill Hewitson – PA to Chief Executive
Geoff Glass – Director of Facilities and Planning
Louise Sheridan – Receptionist (p/time)
Vicki Bentley/Lauren Breen – Receptionist (p/time)
Finance
Michael Hnatojko – Director of Finance and Administration
Amanda Speed – Financial Controller
Elita Davidson – Financial Accountant
Elita Davidson/Melanie Colling – Finance Assistant
Vicki Bentley – Accounts/Payroll Officer
Corporate Relations
Nikki Lefort – Corporate Relations Manager
Kellee Flatt – Marketing and Sponsorship Co-ordinator
Tracey Lewis – Media Manager (p/time)
Jenna Hardie – Promotions Co-ordinator
Kellie McBean – Administration Assistant
Ryan Bown – Website Co-ordinator
Lauren Breen – Administration Assistant (p/time)
WAFL
Grant Dorrington – Director of Football
Linda Goldthorp/Veronica Lawrance/Carli Williams – PA to Director
of Football
Clint Roberts – Football Operations Manager
Tanya Lowe/Carli Williams – Administration Assistant
Paul Fildes – Database Registrar
WA Football Development
Colin West – General Manager
Clayton Anderson – Manager AFL Auskick
Warren Nel – Manager Community Clubs and Volunteer Programs
Brendan Cullinan/Luke Rayner – Manager Talent/Coaching
Darren Davis – Manager Youth
Karl Pirrottina – Co-ordinator Talent/Coaching
Jan Cooper – Female Football Co-ordinator
Eddie Brown – Multicultural Development Co-ordinator
Janice Davidson/Rebecca Pattison – Senior Administration Assistant
Gemma Frediani/Lyndal Thomson – Administration Assistant
Kym Buck – AFL Sportsready Trainee
SMARTER THAN SMOKING Junior Development Officers
Claremont – Darcy Coffey
East Fremantle – Troy Kirkham
East Perth – Todd Daly/Matthew Peach
Peel Thunder – Leigh Elder
Perth – Lorne Cunningham

South Fremantle – Jason Burton
Subiaco – Russell Smith
Swan Districts – Matthew Peach/Adam Northover
West Perth – Jamie Ball
SMARTER THAN SMOKING Youth Development Officers
Claremont – Dean Horsington
East Fremantle – Karl Pirrottina/Mark Winnett
East Perth – Brad Lukosius/Gavin Rose
Peel Thunder – Raffaele Guadagnino
Perth – Wade Spilcker
South Fremantle – Bradd Gardiner
Subiaco – Luke Sanders
Swan Districts – Liam Casson
West Perth – Gerry O’Dea
SMARTER THAN SMOKING Regional Development Officers
South West – Chris Rigoll
Mid West – Aaron Sheldon
Great Southern – Brad Bootsma
Wheatbelt – Jason Colgan
Midlands – Glen Collins
Goldfields – Mark Winnett/Shane Joyce
Kimberley – Eric Wade
ROBE Pilbara – Craig Hamer-Mathew
Facilities
Shane Walsh – General Manager
Helen Riethmuller – PA to General Manager
Janine Berry – Event Operations Manager
Caryn Gardner – Event Co-ordinator
Hollie Taylor – Event Administrator
Sarah Cooper – Events Staff Co-ordinator
Cameron Lawton – Venue Operations Co-ordinator
Nick King – Production Co-ordinator
Lee Pleydell – Receptionist (p/time)
Rebecca Pattison/Donella Berry – Receptionist (p/time)
Umpiring
Steve Hargrave – General Manager Umpiring
Tracy Thompson – PA to General Manager
Tim Priest – Manager of Umpiring Development
Paul Pitchers – Umpiring Development Officer
Glenn Omodei – Umpiring Development Officer
Des Morgan – Community Umpiring Co-ordinator
WA Country Football League
Cameron Knapton – General Manager
Dale Ballantyne – Country Development Manager
Robyn Payne – Administration Assistant (p/time)
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DR NEALE FONG

TIM LYONS

RIC GLOEDE

Chairman
Director General WA Health
Chaplain, West Coast Eagles
Director, West Perth FC 1993-94
League Player - West Perth FC 1985-86
Captain, WAAFL State Team 1984
Vice Captain, WAAFL State Team 1983,
1987
Appointed to WAFC Board 1999-2001
Elected to WAFC Board 2002-2004,
2005-2007
Chairman since 2002

Deputy Chairman
Division Director - Macquarie Bank
Founding partner and later Managing
Director of Porter Western Limited
Member of West Coast Eagles Board
1992-1997
Appointed to WAFC Board 2000-2001
Elected to WAFC Board 2002-2003,
2004-2006

Principal, Roy Weston Gosnells
President, South Fremantle Football
Club 1992-96
Member of Interim Board, Fremantle
Football Club 1994
Life Member, South Fremantle Football
Club
Appointed to WAFC Board 2001-2002
Elected to WAFC Board 2003-2005,
2006-2008

ROSS KELLY

BRIAN BERESFORD

IAN TAYLOR

Company Director
Chairman, Fremantle FC 1995-98
Chairman, Interim Board Fremantle FC
1994
Chairman, Clontarf Aboriginal Football
Academy 1999-Current
Player, 132 League games West Perth
FC, 10 State games 1958-65
Elected to WAFC Board 2002-2004,
2005-2007

Director, GEM Consulting
Player/Captain, 113 League games
Claremont FC, including 3 Premierships
1987-93
Elected to WAFC Board 2002-2003,
2004-2006

Company Director
Appointed to WAFC Board 1997-1999
Executive, WACFL 2000-2003
Elected to WAFC Board 2003-2005,
2006-2008

2006 WEST AUSTRALIAN
FOOTBALL COMMISSION COMMITTEES
Special Members
West Coast Eagles
Fremantle Football Club
Claremont Football Club
East Fremantle Football Club
East Perth Football Club
Peel Thunder Football Club
Perth Football Club
South Fremantle Football Club
Subiaco Football Club
Swan Districts Football Club
West Perth Football Club
WAFC Corporate Executive
Wayne Bradshaw
Chief Executive
Michael Hnatojko
Director of Finance and Administration
Grant Dorrington
Director of Football
Geoff Glass
Director of Facilities and Planning
WAFC Finance Committee
Tim Lyons (Chairman)
Brian Beresford		
Ross Kelly		
Wayne Bradshaw		
Michael Hnatojko			
Development Committee
Ross Kelly (Chairman)		
Ric Gloede			
Ian Taylor			
Wayne Bradshaw			
Colin West			
Corporate Governance Committee
Dr Neale Fong (Chairman) - WAFC
Brian Beresford - WAFC		
Wayne Bradshaw - WAFC
WAFL Council of Presidents
Colin Rockman (Chairman)
West Perth Football Club
Ken Venables
Claremont Football Club
David Miller
East Fremantle Football Club
Bronte Howson
East Perth Football Club
Mike Wilson
Peel Thunder Football Club
Damian Matthews
Perth Football Club
Terry Dean
South Fremantle Football Club
Neil Randall
Subiaco Football Club
Peter Harvey
Swan Districts Football Club
Future Directions Committee 2006
Colin Rockman (Chair)
President West Perth Football Club
Ken Venables
President Claremont Football Club
Peter Capes
CEO East Fremantle Football Club
Damian Matthews
President Perth Football Club
Ken Torrance
CEO West Perth Football Club
Cadell Buss
CEO Peel Thunder Football Club

Clint Roberts
WAFC Football Operations Manager
Michael Hnatojko
WAFC Director of Finance and Administration
Grant Dorrington
WAFC Director of Football
District Development Committee (DDC)
Chairpersons
Wayne Cormack - Claremont		
Steve Nugent - East Fremantle
Joanna Davies - East Perth
Kim McIntosh - Peel
Rob Taylor - South Fremantle
Neil Darby - Perth		
Wayne Morling - Subiaco
Scott Hodgen - Swan Districts
Paul Forrestal - West Perth
		
League Tribunal
Trevor O’Sullivan
Alan Moroni
Paul Heaney
John Nagle (Secretary)
League Appeals Board
Denis Reynolds
Trevor O’Sullivan
Paul Heaney
Alan Moroni
Brian Sierakowski
Glen Bartlett
Arbitrators
Brian Sierakowski
Glen Bartlett
Rules & Regulations Legal Advisor
Glen Bartlett
WA State Team
Peter German (Coach)
Phil Lamb (Chairman of Selectors)
Simon Eastaugh (Assistant Coach)
Steve Turner (Assistant Coach)
Ashley Prescott (Assistant Coach)
WA State 18s
Gerard McNeill (Coach)
Dale Kickett (Assistant Coach)
Kevin Bryant (Assistant Coach)
Neil Mildenhall (Assistant Coach)
Ken Ferguson (Chairman of Selectors)
Brearley Hollingsworth (Manager)
Lionel Lim (Doctor)
Nick Caputi (Physiotherapist)
Les Fabre (Rehabilitation)
Nicole Mawson (Head Trainer)
Liam Casson (Runner)
WA State 16s
Brett Barber (Coach)
Dale Ballantyne (Assistant Coach)
Shane Yardley (Manager)
Brent Levitzke (Chairman of Selectors)
Craig Nelson (Ruck Coach)
Ivan Barrett (Selector)
John Nykyforak (Selector)
Hamish Osborne (Doctor)
Deborah Kounis (Physiotherapist)
David Kinsella (Rehabilitation)
Shannon Johns (Head Trainer)
Karl Pirrottina (Runner)
Heritage Committee
Dr Neale Fong (Chairman) - WAFC		
Grant Dorrington - WAFC
Alan East - Media		

Brian Atkinson - Curator of Memorabilia
Shane Walsh - WAFC
Caryn Gardner - WAFC
Veronica Lawrance - WAFC
Life Members’ Association (WAFC)
Sub-Committee
Dr Neale Fong (Chairman) - WAFC
Ric Gloede - WAFC
Wayne Bradshaw - WAFC
Brian Atkinson - WAFC Curator of Memorabilia
John Cooper - President, Life Members’
Association (WAFC)
Hall of Fame Selection Committee
Dr Neale Fong (Chairman) - WAFC
Brian Atkinson - WAFC
Ken Baxter - WACFL
Michael Brennan
John Cooper - Life Members’ Association
(WAFC)
Alan East
Wally Foreman
Ross Glendinning
Dennis Commetti
John O’Connell
Keith Slater
Gerry Stokes - Community Football Council
Mel Whinnen
Grant Dorrington (Executive Officer) - WAFC
Dave Clement (Non-voting)
Education Advisory Group
Grant Dorrington - WAFL
Colin West - WAFC
Steve Hargrave - Umpiring WA
Alby Huts
Alby Nuich
Daryl Mansfield
Ian Temby
Jim Watterston
Kyle March
Peter Frizzell
Peter Smith
Master Plan Working Party
Ross Kelly - WAFC
Ian Taylor - WAFC
Wayne Bradshaw - WAFC
Shane Walsh - WAFC
Trevor Nisbett - WCE
Chris Cronin - WCE
Cameron Schwab - FFC
Mel Ashton - FFC
Gary Berrell - FFC
Facilities Working Party
Ian Taylor - WAFC
Colin West - WAFC
Clayton White - DSR
Patrick Quigley - NMRRAG 		
Robbie Watkins - SERRAG
Bill Marmion - Syme Marmion & Co
Steve Marmion - Syme Marmion & Co
Steve Hargrave - WAFC
Rob Didcoe - DSR
Cameron Knapton - WACFL
Jeff Crow - DHW
Shane Walsh - WAFC
Stadium Working Party
Tim Lyons - WAFC
Neale Fong - WAFC
Ross Kelly - WAFC
Wayne Bradshaw - WAFC
Stuart Love - GEM Consulting
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FIVE YEARS OF PLANNING LEAD
WEST COAST EAGLES TO THIRD PREMIERSHIP
Winning a premiership is always big - especially for the club
which prevails.
But you sense the West Coast Eagles’ triumph of 2006 was of
greater significance because of the way it was embraced by those
with no connection to the club.
The one-point result on the back of the four-point margin between
West Coast and Sydney in the 2005 premiership-decider means
it will always be fondly remembered.
While September 30, 2006 was the day it was achieved, the West
Coast Eagles’ third premiership was five years in the making.
Upon the arrival of dual premiership captain John Worsfold as
senior coach for the 2001 season, the first meaningful steps
towards another flag were taken.
Success in that heart-stopping victory against Sydney was the
pinnacle of a comprehensive process that included a review of the
playing list, meticulous planning around the on-field structure,
a detailed recruiting plan and bringing together the off-field
infrastructure required to offer the necessary support.
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Perhaps that goes some way towards explaining how difficult it
is to win a premiership.		
The club’s 2006 campaign started in powerful fashion with a
Round 1 victory against St Kilda and progressed strongly through
the next 21 weeks, which culminated with West Coast winning the
McLelland Trophy for the third time.
By finishing on top, West Coast was guaranteed two home finals
and gave them the platform from which to launch a successful
campaign.
The first of those games, a qualifying final against Sydney, didn’t
go to plan. The two clubs had been involved in some epics and
this was another, with a late goal by Michael O’Loughlin securing
a one-point victory for the visitors.

West Coast had beaten Adelaide in Adelaide in Round 2 but the
confidence they took into the game was under pressure when trailing
by 23 points at half-time, but with the star-studded midfield of Dean
Cox, Chris Judd, Ben Cousins and Daniel Kerr leading the way the
Eagles prevailed by 10 points to earn a second consecutive grand
final berth.
Again Sydney would be the foe. Again it was a nail-biter, but this time
West Coast would endure. The scores were a mirror image of the
qualifying final three weeks earlier. But that was just one of a number
of almost eerie occurrences.
• In 2005 the West Coast Eagles were denied the McLelland Trophy
as minor premiers when beaten by Adelaide in the last qualifying
round of the season This year the club secured that mantle by beating
Richmond in the last game.
• In 2005 West Coast champion Ben Cousins won the Brownlow Medal.
In 2006 it was claimed by Sydney star Adam Goodes.
• The 2005 finals series started with West Coast winning a stirring
qualifying final by four points at Subiaco Oval. The 2006 finals series
started with Sydney winning a remarkable match by one point at the
same venue.
• In 2005 Sydney lost its first final, beat Geelong in a thriller at the
SCG then had to overcome St Kilda at the MCG in the preliminary
final to book its place. The reverse applied in 2006, with West Coast
beating the Western Bulldogs in a semi-final before coming from
behind to beat Adelaide in Adelaide to gain a grand final berth.
Consider, too, that the 2006 grand final was the fifth game in a mindblowing run of matches between these two clubs and the legend of this
rivalry will be forever revered.
To have a grand total of just 12 points deciding those five matches is
astonishing. Throw in the fact that two of the games are grand finals
and four of them are finals and the significance of the clashes rises to
extraordinary levels.
The individual efforts of key members of the club’s personnel were
recognised with senior coach John Worsfold winning the AFL Coaches
Association Coach-of-the-Year Award.

That left West Coast with the task of combatting the Western
Bulldogs in an elimination final a week later and the Bulldogs had
beaten West Coast at Subiaco earlier in the season.

Judd won his second club champion award in a tight finish with fullback Darren Glass. Judd also collected the AFL Players Association
Most Valuable Player Award.

The Eagles, however, prevailed. After a tight first quarter they
powered home to win by 74 points and earning a preliminary final
stoush with Adelaide at AAMI Stadium.

Glass’ effort was testimony to his evolution as a player, while Cousins
was again recognised as an outstanding contributor in finishing third.
Tyson Stenglein claimed fourth position.
Dean Cox won the Best Clubman Award, Quinten Lynch took out the
Leading Goalkicker honour while Jaymie Graham was named Rookieof-the-Year.
Judd, Cousins, Glass and Cox also won all-Australian selection. The
Norm Smith Medal for best afield in the grand final was won by Andrew
Embley.
From the WAFL perspective, Matt Priddis, one of the club’s rookie list
players, made his AFL debut this season, but also was a run-away
winner in the Sandover Medal.
The club continued to enjoy wonderful support from its members and
supporters. The membership base hit a record of 44,138 with an average
home game attendance of 41,116 and 534,517 people attending home
qualifying round matches at Subiaco Oval.
The level of corporate support also ensured the club maintained a
strong financial standing within the AFL, led by joint major sponsors
SGIO and Hungry Jack’s.

FREMANTLE’S AGGRESSIVE
APPROACH PAYING DIVIDENDS
Season 2006 was a very positive year for Fremantle as the club
further established itself as one of the strongest clubs in the AFL,
both on and off the field.
Fremantle will continue its aggressive approach to further build the
club with its new strategic plan for the 2007 to 2009 period. The
club will continue to focus on building its brand, managing finances,
developing the football team for sustained finals success and ensuring
that the club’s ethos and decision making are the strongest and best
in the AFL.
T he 20 0 6 season was a year filled wi th many landmark
achievements.
Fremantle achieved record membership for the fourth consecutive
year and home game attendances passed the 400,000 mark for the
first time, a remarkable effort that reflects the loyalty and passion
of the club’s members and supporters. Home game attendances
averaged a record 36,571 in 2006.
The level of corporate support, through the club’s sponsors and
corporate partners, remains at record levels and in 2006 the club
welcomed many key sponsors, especially the club’s new major
sponsor, LG Electronics.
For the fourth consecutive year the club posted a significant operating
profit, its third consecutive $1million plus operating profit, with club
revenues again achieving record levels.
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The continued strong financial performance of the club further builds
the financial operating strength and the required asset base to ensure
the club’s future financial health.
On-field results were very positive in 2006 with a record nine-game
winning streak delivering the club its best ever finish at the end of
the home-and-away season in third place and the right to the double
chance in the finals series. The club can be proud of what was achieved
in 2006, winning games it was expected to win and winning games
against the better performed teams.
The club set out in 2006 to reach the finals and secure its first finals
victory. That was achieved, fittingly at Subiaco Oval, and presented
the opportunity for Fremantle to play in its first preliminary final.
The players performed exceptionally well throughout the season
though none was more inspirational than Peter Bell who played his
250th AFL game and led the Fremantle team onto the field for the
100th occasion. At the 2006 Doig Medal presentation dinner, Bell
announced he was stepping down as club captain. The first player
signed by the club in 1994, Bell has established himself as one the
very best players Western Australia has ever produced and has been,
and will remain, a fantastic servant for the Fremantle Football Club.
Matthew Pavlich confirmed his status as one of the competition’s elite
players earning his fourth All-Australian selection and winning his
third Doig Medal. National honours fell to David Mundy, Brett Peake
and Ryan Crowley who were selected in the 24-man International
Rules Series squad that travelled to Ireland for the two Test series.
Pavlich will lead the club in 2007 as the new captain.
Eight of Fremantle’s West Australian born players were named in the
2006 WA State of Origin team. The record Fremantle representation
included Bell (named in his fourth consecutive State of Origin team,
his third time as captain), Jeff Farmer, Shane Parker, Michael Johnson,
Des Headland, Josh Carr, Aaron Sandilands and Steven Dodd.
For the 2006 season the football department was boosted as two
of the country’s most experienced football professionals joined the
club. Robert Shaw took over as general manager football operations

and Mark Harvey joined as assistant coach. At season’s end the club’s
coaching ranks were bolstered further with the addition of Subiaco
premiership coach Peter German as an assistant coach.
The playing squad for 2007 has similarly been bolstered with the
inclusion of experienced duo Chris Tarrant and Dean Solomon who
joined the club through the 2006 AFL player exchange.
While Fremantle’s on-field performances in 2006 delivered a top four
finish, the club is yet to establish itself consistently as a top four club.
That remains a key focus.
Fremantle is now well positioned both on and off the field.

WEST AUSTRALIAN
FOOTBALL LEAGUE 2006
Producing a strong, viable competition continues to be the focus of
the WAFL and was the ultimate outcome of the 2006 WAFL Future
Directions report.
The chairman of the Future Directions Committee was Colin Rockman
and the committee included Ken Venables (Claremont Football Club
president), Damian Matthews (Perth Football Club president), Cadell
Buss (Peel Thunder Football Club chief executive), Peter Capes (East
Fremantle Football Club chief executive) and Ken Torrance (West
Perth Football Club chief executive).
Key West Australian Football Commission managers Michael
Hnatojko (Director of finance), Grant Dorrington (director of football)
and Clint Roberts (football operations) were also involved.
Re l e a s e d in N ov e mb er 2 0 0 6, t h e r e p or t c o n t a in e d 6 9
recommendations aimed at giving the WAFL and its nine clubs
a clear direction in which they can grow and sustain the WAFL
competition.
Of those 69 recommendations, 25 were identified as of priority
significance.
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Those 25 recommendations include:
• That the WAFC immediately inject substantial funding to the
WAFL for an interim facilities upgrade-refurbishment for WAFL
grounds to be administered by the WAFC facilities manager.
• That the current interstate player limit of six remains as it is for
the next three years so that its impact can be assessed.
• That the WAFC make strong representation to the AFL supporting
an increase in the National Draft age.
• Enhancing penalty strength for breaches in the WAFL salary
cap
• That the colts competition be brought into line with new school
year groupings in regards to the upper age limits (eg: players
turning 19 after July 1 are still eligible to play colts (the cut off
is currently October 1).
• That the WAFL investigate and research any associated benefits
and-or issues of closely aligning itself with the AFL brand.
The 2006 report follows on from the November 2003 Future
Directions report. Every three years the WAFL establishes a
review committee to develop a Future Directions report that will
provide the template for the competition to agree to, ensuring that
it continues to remain WA’s elite State League competition.

		
The professional status of the WAFL competition is due to the
outstanding contribution of the club volunteers including presidents,
boards, officials and club management.

WAFL CHAMPIONS

Having a competition steeped in history is something the WAFL is very
proud of and each year the clubs (except Peel Thunder who only joined
the competition in 1997) recognise one of their past champions by
printing their image and resumé on their home ground game ball.
These champions (or a family representative) are then invited to take
part in the Parade of Champions at the WAFL grand final.
In 2006, the following former players were recognised by their
clubs:
Claremont – John McIntosh
East Fremantle – Con Regan
East Perth – John Watts
Perth – Robert Wiley
South Fremantle – Clive Lewington
Subiaco – Kevin Merifield
Swan Districts – Keith Narkle
West Perth – Paul Mifka

DISTRICT DEVELOPMENT MODEL

The stakeholders in football continue to work closely together through
the District Development Modal to help grow the game.

The WAFL constantly recognises its volunteers through many
dif ferent strategies and greatly appreciates their ongoing
contribution.

Season 2006 was the third year of implementation of the new model
which has flourished under the leadership of the District Development
Councils and in particular, through the District Chairpersons. These
Chairpersons have a key role and along with all District Council
members, supported by their full-time Youth Development Officers
and Junior Development Officers, ensure the on-going growth of the
game.

The 2006 club presidents were:
Claremont Football Club - Ken Venables
East Fremantle Football Club – David Miller
East Perth Football Club – Bronte Howson
Peel Thunder Football Club – Mike Wilson
Perth Football Club – Damian Matthews
South Fremantle Football Club – Terry Dean
Subiaco Football Club – Neil Randall
Swan Districts Football Club – Peter Harvey
West Perth Football Club – Colin Rockman

The WAFL recognises the following District Chairpersons:
Claremont – Wayne Cormack
East Fremantle – Steve Nugent
East Perth – Jo Davies
Peel – Kim McIntosh
Perth – Neil Darby
South Fremantle – Rob Taylor
Subiaco – Wayne Morling
Swan Districts – Scott Hodgen
West Perth – Paul Forrestal

The WAFL still has a tremendous connection to club volunteers,
they are the ‘glue’ that has previously, and will continue to hold this
historic competition together.

		

COUNTRY FOOTBALL

The contribution of all Country Football leagues/associations to the
WAFL competition continues to be of the highest level. Approximately
40 percent of WAFL players come from WAFL Country Districts and
therefore there is an ongoing desire by WAFL clubs to recognise all
country clubs through providing support outlined in each club’s Service
Agreement.
The West Austr alian Countr y Football League, who are the
management body, have again provided the leadership that ensures
country football continues to grow. The leadership of WACFL president
Ken Baxter, general manager Cameron Knapton, country development
manager Dale Ballantyne and all WACFL executive members, is greatly
appreciated.

GAME DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT

The WA Amateur Football League, Sunday Football League,
Women’s Football League, Masters Australian Football League,
Mercantile Football Association and Peel Football League have all
benefited from working together. All of football was saddened by
the loss of CEO Ron Webster at the start of the year but we welcome
Brendan Cullinan and acknowledge the great work Brendan has
done in continuing to build on Ron’s foundation.
The WAFL recognises all of their efforts in growing what is a very
large part of the football industry.

THE 2006 SEASON

The WAFL experienced its highest attendance figures since 1997 in
2006, with 173,859 people attending home-and-away games.

General manager Colin West, Auskick manager Clayton Anderson,
community manager Warren Nel and youth manager Darren Davis have
provided the leadership to all district youth development officers and
junior development officers. The WAFL appreciates their outstanding
contribution.

A further 34,488 supporters attended the three-week finals series
that culminated in Subiaco winning the premiership.

UMPIRING

The last time the finals were played away from Subiaco Oval was
in 1994 when the elimination and qualifying finals were played as
a double-header at the WACA Ground.

The relationships between Umpiring and WAFL have been reinforced by
good communication. A strong relationship has developed between both
groups led on behalf of the umpires by general manager of Umpiring
Steve Hargrave, umpires manager Darryl Sinclair, WAFL umpires field
coach Peter Repper and their support team are to be complimented on
their leadership.
The WAFL is committed to working with umpiring to improve the
recruitment and retention of umpires.

COMMUNITY FOOTBALL COUNCIL

Chairman Gerry Stokes, secretary Milton Sanders and all council
members have made a significant contribution to the on-going growth
and development of ‘grass roots’ metropolitan football.

The first and second semi-finals were played at suburban grounds
and attracted a total of 8386 people.

One of the main reasons for the move back to the suburban grounds
was to reward the teams finishing highest in the semi’s while then
offering them a chance to play at Subiaco Oval should they progress
through to the preliminary and/or grand final.
First-placed Subiaco hosted South Fremantle in the second semifinal at Medibank Stadium, while Claremont hosted West Perth in
the first semi-final at Claremont Oval.
East Perth full forward Troy Wilson kicked 74 goals to win the Bernie
Naylor Medal for the leading goal kicker.
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STATE FOOTBALL

Western Australia went within three goals of causing a major boilover
in the State clash against South Australia in Adelaide in May.
Led by Subiaco’s Caine Hayes, who won the Simpson Medal as WA’s
best player, the Black Swans were within four points of the home team
at the final change before SA kicked away in the last.
Anthony Jones and Chris Maguire kicked three goals each for WA while
Shane Woewodin (33 possessions) and Steven Armstrong (25) picked
up plenty of the ball.
Former Fremantle forward Daniel Schell proved the difference between
the two teams in the end with six goals for the home side.
14.14 (98) to 12.9 (81).

2006 WAFL GRAND FINAL

Subiaco won its second grand final in three seasons when it
comprehensively beat South Fremantle 24.9 (153) to South Fremantle
10.10 (70) in front of a crowd of 21,291 people.
The Lions were coached by Peter German and South Fremantle by
John Dimmer, with Lions captain and midfielder Marc Webb winning
the Simpson Medal. The WAFL thanks the Simpson family for donating
and presenting this medal now synonymous with the WAFL competition
and football excellence.
The Reserves premiership was won by Swan Districts under coach
Brian Dawson, while East Perth, guided by Michael Prior won the
colts grand final.
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TALENT DEVELOPMENT

The selection of 18 WA players in the 2006 AFL draft was testament
to the strength of the talent pathway in WA.
Proof of the quality of the programs offered to the young players in
WA was also evident at the AFL National Under 16s and Under 18s
championships with four WA players from the National Under 18 side
being honoured with All-Australian selection and eight players from the
National Under 16 Carnival into the AFL/AIS Academy program.
Both State Coaches in Brett Barber (State 16s) and Gerard McNeill
(State 18s) co-ordinated their programs in a professional manner and
created a positive learning environment for all players.
The WAFL development programs from 14s to 16s in both metropolitan
and country regions provide the link from community to WAFL football
with the high quality of these programs accredited to the dedication of
the youth development officers and the many volunteer coaches, sports
trainers and administrators involved with these program.
In 2006 Western Australia produced 18 AFL draftees. This is the
end result of a well planned and executed colts program with quality
coaching at all levels within the State talent program.
DRAFTEES:
Scott Gumbleton
Matthew Leuenberger
Leroy Jetta
Eric Mackenzie
Clayton Collard
Jarryd Morton
James Hawksley
Nathan Krakouer
Brad Dick
Brennan Stack
Kyle Reimers
Clint Benjamin
Brock O’Brien
Garry Moss
Carl Peterson
Joshua Hill
Calib Mourish
James Thomson

Peel Thunder
East Perth
South Fremantle
Claremont
South Fremantle
Claremont
Peel Thunder
Claremont
East Fremantle
Perth
Peel Thunder
Claremont
Peel Thunder
East Perth
Claremont
Claremont
East Fremantle
Claremont

Essendon
Brisbane
Essendon
West Coast
Fremantle
Hawthorn
Brisbane
Port Adelaide
Collingwood
Western Bulldogs
Essendon
Carlton
Fremantle
Hawthorn
Richmond
Western Bulldogs
Fremantle
West Coast

ROOKIES:
Dean Dick
Clint Jones
Sharrod Wellingham
Jamie McNarmara
Danny Chartres
Liam Bedford
Andrew Foster
Llane Spaanderman
Darren Rumble

Perth
South Fremantle
Perth
East Fremantle
Peel Thunder
Claremont
East Fremantle
East Perth
Subiaco

Essendon
St Kilda
Collingwood
West Coast
Essendon
Geelong
Fremantle
West Coast
Fremantle

BELT UP SPONSORSHIP

The partnership that has developed between the WAFL and the Office
of Road Safety was further strengthened in 2006.
The Office of Road Safety, funded by the Insurance Commission of
WA through the Sports Sponsorship, was again the major sponsor
of the West Australian Football League.
Delivering the important road safety message to all West Australians
to Belt Up is a message the WAFL is keen to convey to its players,
administrators and supporters – especially to the key target market
of rural males aged between 17 and 39 years.
All WAFL match jumpers and match footballs carry the message
to Belt Up. A Belt Up WA Weekend was held in May 2006, in which
all WACFL, WAFL and junior footballers wore a red arm band in
remembrance of those who have died on West Australian roads.
The Belt Up message is delivered through the media channels
including the ABC TV broadcast and with great support from the
likes of The West Australian newspaper and the Football Budget
publishing articles of WAFL players wearing their red armbands in
support of the message.
The success of the Belt Up partnership can be directly related to the
outstanding support that it receives from all WAFL clubs, media and
the West Australian community.

AUTOMOTIVE HOLDINGS GROUP

AHG has become a vital supporter of WAFL football.
Again in season 2006 the bulk of their support came through the
sponsorship of four pages of editorial in The West Australian on a
weekly basis and their support of Access 31 program WAFL On.
The group ensured the WAFL players were rewarded for their efforts
throughout the season by offering awards for the League, Reserves
and Colts Players-of-the-Year.
Each week opposition coaches votes on a 3-2-1 basis for their
man-of-the-match.
The winners of the awards for season 2006 were: League: Matt
Priddis (Subiaco); Reserves: Dean Page (Peel Thunder): Colts: Joel
O’Halloran (Subiaco).
Special mention must go to East Perth Football Club president
and AHG chief executive officer Bronte Howson for his vision and
continual support of these promotional initiatives. The WAFL thanks
Automotive Holdings Group for their outstanding support of the
competition throughout the 2006 WAFL season.

MEDIA COVERAGE

The WAFL continues to enjoy a great working relationship with the
local WA media.
In season 2006 ABC TV continued to broadcast WAFL matches and
in Round 19 they took their production all the way to Broome where
they broadcast the game between Claremont and Swan Districts.
Each week the ABC broadcast a game Statewide with an estimated
three million viewers tuning in throughout the season.

The West Australian’s weekly six pages of dedicated WAFL
coverage provided supporters with all the information they could
need about the WA’s elite football competition, while The Sunday
Times wrapped up the games every Sunday and previewed the
blockbuster games that were played on the Monday of the long
weekends.

The games played in regional centres during the season were:
Round 7 - West Perth v Perth in Mukinbudin (attendance of 2008)
Round 9 - East Perth v Peel Thunder in Manjimup (attendance of 1965)
Round 12 - Subiaco v Perth in Kambalda (attendance of 1514)
Round 19 - Claremont v Swan Districts in Broome (attendance of 3950
and an ABC TV audience of 83,500)

Network Ten telecast a half hour WAFL 2006 special which
highlighted events such as the Sandover Medal, while the station
also promoted the WAFL competition on their weekly Western
Front program.

All games were well received by the communities involved and the legacy
of these games will be greater participation and enjoyment of our game
and sport overall, into the future.

Access 31 continued to deliver WAFL news with its Thursday night
program WAFL On.

A record attendance of just over 1000 people at the 2006 Sandover
Medal count in the Ballroom at Burswood witnessed another record as
Subiaco midfielder Matt Priddis recorded the highest ever total of 58
votes to win the prestigious award.

The official WAFL publication, the Football Budget, continued to
provide great amounts of up-to-date information about the WAFL
competition and programs run on a broader scale by the West
Australian Football Commission.

SANDOVER MEDAL

On September 18 Priddis won the Medal ahead of Claremont’s Daniel
Bandy who polled 42 votes.

Community Newspaper Group and other regional and community
newspapers regularly covered WAFL news along with radio
stations 90.5 Sport FM, ABC 720, Radio Fremantle 107.9 and
990AM Information Radio.

Tim Greaney from Claremont was awarded the Prendergast Medal as
the fairest and best player in the WAFL reserves competition, while Ian
Richardson receive the Jack Clarke Medal as the fairest and best player
in the colts competition.

Edith Cowan University students produced a WAFL Podcast
program each Monday that brought the competition into a new
technological era, while Curtin University again offered students
a journalism course where the nine WAFL districts were their
main focus.

Troy Wilson collected his Bernie Naylor Medal as the WAFL’s leading
goalkicker, while Subiaco was awarded the Rodriguez Shield which
is presented to the most consistent club over the league, colts and
reserves.

The WAFL would like to acknowledge the outstanding support of
all media outlets that supported the WAFL competition during the
2006 season.

COUNTRY SPORT ENRICHMENT SCHEME GAMES

The clash between Claremont and Swan Districts in Broome in
Round 19 was one of the highlights of the WAFL’s involvement in
the 2006 Country Sport Enrichment Scheme.
The game attracted a crowd of 3950 people and was broadcast
around the State by ABC TV with an audience of 83,500 viewers.
Over the past few years the Country Sport Enrichment Scheme
has taken many top level sports to country venues, but none more
successfully than football. The WAFL extends its thanks to the
Minister for Sport and Recreation, The Hon. John Kobelke, the
Director General at the Department of Sport and Recreation, Mr
Ron Alexander and his staff in Ronnie Hurst, Andrea Mitchell and
Jacquie Berkhout who have assisted directly in the presentation
of these games.

Umpire Greg Bandy was rewarded for his season by being named the
winner of the Montgomery Medal for the Umpire-of-the-Year.
Peel Thunder colts coach Trevor Williams received the JJ Leonard Medal
for the Coach-of-the-Year.
The night was also used to launch ‘The Sandover Medal Men’, edited by
Alan East - a comprehensive history of the 85-year-old award for the
fairest and best player in the West Australian Football League. Sub-titled
“A history of Western Australia’s most prestigious football award”, this
hard-cover glossy publication is the definitive history of the men who
have claimed the honour.

COMPETITION LEADERSHIP

The ongoing status of the WAFL is directly related to the management
of all clubs.
The Council of Presidents, led by Chairman Colin Rockman, has shown
leadership and given the clubs and their administration direction, while
the nine WAFL club chief executive officers maintained high standards
with their dedication to the day-to-day running of the clubs.
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RESULTS OF THE 2006 WAFL FINALS SERIES
League
First Semi-Final
Second Semi-Final
Preliminary Final
Grand Final

Claremont 21.18 (144) d West Perth 8.10 (58)
Subiaco 15.7 (97) d South Fremantle 12.18 (90)
South Fremantle 16.13 (109) d Claremont 16.10 (106)
Subiaco 24.9 (153) d South Fremantle 10.10 (70)

Reserves
First Semi-Final
Second Semi-Final
Preliminary Final
Grand Final

West Perth 16.10 (106) d Claremont 7.7 (49)
Swan Districts 15.13 (103) d Perth 12.13 (85)
West Perth 18.8 (116) d Perth 12.10 (82)
Swan Districts 12.18 (90) d West Perth 6.5 (41)

Colts			
First Semi-Final
East Perth 13.14 (92) d Peel Thunder 8.5 (53)
Second Semi-Final
Claremont 13.12 (90) d East Fremantle 12.7 (79)
Preliminary Final
East Perth 15.7 (97) d East Fremantle 12.12 (84)
Grand Final
East Perth 13.11 (89) d Claremont 11.17 (83)

WAFL PREMIERSHIP TABLES - SEASON 2006
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League
CLUB
Subiaco
South Fremantle
Claremont
West Perth
East Perth
Swan Districts
Perth
Peel Thunder
East Fremantle

Played
20
20
20
20
20
20
20
20
20

Won
18
16
15
10
7
7
7
6
4

Lost
2
4
5
10
13
13
13
14
16

Drawn
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

For
2515
2278
2285
1999
1842
1896
1656
1662
1759

Against
1589
1540
1626
1873
2057
2318
2143
2396
2350

Percentage
158.28
147.92
140.53
106.73
89.55
81.79
77.27
69.37
74.85

Pts
72
64
60
40
28
28
28
24
16

Reserves
CLUB
Swan Districts
Perth
West Perth
Claremont
South Fremantle
East Perth
East Fremantle
Subiaco
Peel Thunder

Played
20
20
20
20
20
20
20
20
20

Won
15
13
11
10
10
10
9
9
1

Lost
4
6
9
9
10
10
10
11
19

Drawn
1
1
0
1
0
0
1
0
0

For
1991
1888
1611
1675
1862
1657
1707
1680
1267

Against
1501
1578
1494
1535
1632
1881
1855
1742
2120

Percentage
132.64
119.65
107.83
109.12
114.09
88.09
92.02
96.44
59.76

Pts
62
54
44
42
40
40
38
36
4

Colts
CLUB
East Fremantle
Claremont
East Perth
Peel Thunder
Swan Districts
Subiaco
West Perth
South Fremantle
Perth

Played
20
20
20
20
20
20
20
20
20

Won
17
14
14
14
9
9
6
5
2

Lost
3
6
6
6
11
11
14
15
18

Drawn
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

For
1981
1938
1832
1809
1608
1664
1373
1402
1292

Against
1400
1377
1400
1581
1755
1823
1816
1865
1882

Percentage
141.50
140.74
130.86
114.42
91.62
91.28
75.61
75.17
68.65

Pts
68
56
56
56
36
36
24
20
8

DEVELOPMENT OF
FOOTBALL IN WA
The development of football administration in Western Australia
continues to grow to keep up with the demands of rising participation
rates and the interest in our great game from the varied and diverse
number of interest groups in our community.
In season 2006, new areas of development were recognised by the
West Australian Football Commission.
The continued growth in participation rates and the challenges of
maintaining football as the premier sport in WA resulted in programs
such as community and volunteers, women’s football and indigenous
football being resourced with program co-ordinators, funded by the
WAFC.

nab AFL Auskick (5-12 years)

Clayton Anderson, Manager nab AFL Auskick
There was significant growth in all facets of junior development in
2006, with some outstanding results in terms of participation.
While we are aware of the possible impact from other codes and the
need to continually market Australian Rules Football with innovation
and vigour, from a junior development point of view we consider that
football has the capacity to maintain its status as the number one
sporting code in Western Australia.
Despite the constant challenges from rival sports, the past year
was successful for community and school football with increases
in participation at both levels. In terms of enhanced growth and
awareness, junior development continues to maintain a high profile
across the State.
The expanded primary school football programs continue to be
the highlight of the Term 2 sporting calendar, which indicates the
increased popularity in metropolitan and country regions. Qualityrun programs continue to excel in maintaining and attracting primary
schools and their students to football.
Our community promotions reached new heights again this year. The
commitment of each WAFL district and country regions in managing
these events within their boundaries ensured the philosophy of our
great game was promoted throughout WA. This was evident by the
number of new initiatives and programs introduced in season 2006.
The partnership with our major stakeholders Healthway ‘Smarter
than Smoking’, the nine WAFL district clubs, West Coast Eagles,
Fremantle Football Club, nab and Works Infrastructure enable junior
development programs to be available to every primary school aged
student in the State.

AUSKICK HIGHLIGHTS
• 18,455 registered nab AFL Auskick 5-8 year-old participants - a
15 percent increase from 2005.
• 22,025 registered nab AFL Auskick 9-12 year-old participants
– an 11 percent increase from 2005.
• An eight percent increase in participation. The number of Eagles
Cup primary schools across the State was 460 (311 metropolitan,
149 country) with four new metropolitan and three new country
divisions entering the 2006 competition.
• Introduction of all female Auskick programs. Eight new centres
with over 800 females participating.
• Introduction of multicultural Auskick programs in the South
Fremantle and East Perth districts.
• 96 percent of all primary schools participating in one or more
WAFC endorsed programs.
• 14 new school-based Auskick programs introduced in 2006.
• 526 primary schools participating in Term 2 Lightning Carnival
Football – a 9 percent increase on 2005.
• West Coast Eagles “Rock My School Program”
• Fremantle Football Club “Community Development Program”
• nab AFL Auskick Gala Days attracted over 10,000 participants
throughout 2006.
• AFL-WAFL Little League program provided 3000 children an
opportunity to play at AFL and WAFL venues.
• AFL-WAFL nab Grid Game program provided 5000 children an
opportunity to play on AFL and WAFL venues.
• 17 WA nab AFL Auskick participants travelled to Melbourne for
the AFL grand final.
• The expansion of the Primar y School Football Advisor y
Committee.
• Additional club-school resources provided by the AFL to enhance
football programs across the State.
• Introduction of a “Reward and Recognition” program for junior
development volunteers.
• Record numbers of participants at WAFL club school holiday
clinics.

School/Youth

Darren Davis, Manager Youth and Secondary Schools
There was significant growth in both youth community and school
football in season 2006.
Participation in secondary school football competitions grew by
20 percent while participation in youth community football grew
by 5.9 percent.
Over 26,000 youth-aged players, a mix of male and female,
participated in either a school or community youth football
competition in 2006. Our core objective with all youth competitions
is to provide an opportunity for adolescents to participate in high
quality and well-organised competitions throughout Western
Australia.
The continued expansion of AFL Recreational Football competitions
is helping make Australian Rules Football more accessible to a wide
range of participants.
Throughout the year many secondary schools expressed interest in
the AFL Recreational Football concept, with the game set to become
a common feature of many school sport education programs.
The program is expected to expand dramatically in 2007 with new
community venues to be established in regional WA and a number
of schools using the game as a basis for house competitions due to
its ability to attract broader participation numbers.
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School /Youth Highlights
• 119 teams participated in the Year 11/12 Belt Up Cup — an increase
of 16 percent.
• 100 teams participated in the Year 10 AFL SportsReady Cup — an
increase of 49 percent.
• 160 teams participated in the Year 8/9 Smarter than Smoking Cup
— an increase of 8 percent.
• Participation in youth community football grew by 5.9 percent.
• Continued expansion of the Fremantle Football Club Youth
League.
• Over 2000 secondary students from schools in the Midwest and
Midlands regions attended one of four “Your Destiny is a matter
of choice” seminars focusing on leadership, goal setting, choices
and consequences presented by AFL Youth Ambassador Jason
McCartney.
• Expansion of AFL Recreational Football.
The West Australian Football Commission’s continued focus in
secondary schools and youth community football is to provide
participants with a variety of programs to increase participation.
The continuing challenge of youth football is to stay abreast of
the demands of students, teachers, players, parents, coaches and
administrators. Consequently, the focus in 2007 will be to identify
the needs and develop processes and programs to ensure Australian
Rules Football remains the most popular youth sport in WA.

Coaching AND Talent

Luke Rayner, Coaching and Talent Manager
The areas of coaching and talent experienced great success in 2006.
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Coaching continues to be a critical aspect of football’s environment
and therefore a concerted approach to the continuing education of
coaches was paramount in 2006.
Throughout the year, 51 Level 1 accreditation courses provided for
1175 coaches and that resulted in a State accreditation percentile
of 86.6, which was up from 83.6 percent in 2005. We also had 71
coaches attend the Level 2 course while four coaches were accepted
into the Level 3 AFL High Performance Course.
Apart from the Level 1 courses, congratulations must go to the WAFL
clubs that continually provide on-going education for coaches in
their zones. There were 27 seminars held in 2006 which were
provided along with training nights, match day opportunities and
mentoring.
The Australian Football Coaches Association (AFCA) undertook a
major re-structure in 2006 with the forming of a new committee
in early 2007. The new committee will provide the WAFC coaching
department with a wealth of knowledge and expertise from which
strategies will be formed and implemented throughout 2007 and
beyond.
Another great result for WA was achieved at the AFL National Draft
with 18 players drafted. This was the best result since the 1992
draft and is strong evidence that our talent pathway, in particular
the WAFL colts competition, provides the youth of WA with every
opportunity to play AFL.
From the National Under 18 carnival four players were honoured
with All-Australian selection and even more encouraging for the
future was the selection of eight West Australians from the National
U/16 Carnival into the AFL/AIS Academy program. Congratulations
to the WAFL clubs on your contributions towards helping prepare
these young players for such a critical time in their football careers.
We look forward to your continued hard work in ensuring our talent
pathway remains strong and provides the required opportunities to
the players.
To the WAFC team of Karl Pirrottina, Gemma Frediani, Lyndal
Thomson and previously Brendan Cullinan, thank you for your
commitment and contribution in 2006 and we look forward to
continued successes in 2007.

Community

Warren Nel, Manager Community Development
During 2006 the WAFC continued to heavily resource the portfolio of
Community Clubs and Volunteer Programs.
This focus facilitated a wide range of outcomes that have continued to
result in a positive impact within administration, volunteers, coaching,
umpiring and playing.
As a result we have established stronger associations with key volunteer
stakeholders — District Football Development Council, Regional
Football Development Council, Junior Competition Committee and
Community Football Council.
We have also prepared the way for fruitful outcomes in some of the
“minority” areas of our participation base.
From a club and volunteer resources point of view, development and
training opportunities are now accessible for our volunteer stakeholders
and leaders. The WAFC, in partnership with our district structure, is
now capable of providing on-demand support to our clubs and
volunteers.
A highlight of 2006 was the inaugural presentation of the WA Football
Volunteer-of-the-Year award at the Sandover Medal count to Sheryl
Ward.
In brief, below is a summary of some of the positive outcomes in 2006.
Club Development
• Sessions delivered to over 1000 key stakeholders from 400 senior
and junior clubs.
• 20 development sessions available for one through to 100
volunteers.
• Transition, MOU and Pathway programs from youth to senior
community were developed and delivered.
• New clubs established as a result of the WAFC “Club Growth
Fund”.
Volunteer Resources/ Development
• New administrators course delivered.
• A “Best Practice Kit” established, including template business
plan, financial management advice, volunteer management and
other useful information for our volunteer administrators.
Volunteer Recognition
• Key focus continues to be the WAFC and AFL volunteer recognition
program.
• Initiated a “Volunteer-of-the-Year” award and program that will
be treated in the same status as other industry elite level award
recipients. Winner received a trip for two to the AFL grand final.
Community Clubs (Senior)
• Included and considered senior football perspectives in all
discussions and forums.
• Strategic links with senior DFDC delegates.
Community Clubs (Junior)
• Successful forum for competition directors.
• Review of tribunal protocols conducted. Tribunal network
established.
• Registrars support enhanced with WAFC IT significantly involved.
• Contemporary by laws, policy and codes of conduct integrated.
District support
• Implementation of the district manager position to add support to
key stake holders.
• Significant impact of “Grow the Game” funding in excess of
$200,000 for new initiatives.
Indigenous Football (Partnered by Healthway, DSR and the ISP)
• Commencement of full-time Indigenous/Multicultural Co-ordinator,
Eddie Brown.
• Successful ISP (Indigenous Sport Program-Football) delivered to
metro and regional areas.

Education

Female Football

The WAFC strengthened its partnership with the WA education
system in 2006 through the on-going implementation of the
exciting and successful AFL School Ambassador (AFLSA)
Program.

Female Football Co-ordinator – In 2006 Jan Cooper was appointed to this
role on a part-time basis to facilitate the development of female participation
in all roles and at all levels of football.

Colin West, General Manager WA Football Development

Strategically led by members of the WAFC Education Advisory
Group (EAG), comprising senior leaders from all sections of
the education system in this State, the WAFC managers,
development officers and key volunteers combined to
effectively resource, recognise and reward these enthusiastic
teachers (AFLSAs) who actively promote our great game in
their schools.
Important 2006 milestones and outcomes:
• There are 483 AFL School Ambassadors in WA schools.
• 133 new AFLSAs were inducted in 2006.
• All competitions conducted in WA schools reported an
increase in 2006, these included the Eagles Cup (Yrs 6/7),
Smarter than Smoking Cups (Boys – Yrs 8/9 & Girls – Yrs
11/12), AFL Sports Ready Cup (Yr 10) and Belt Up Cup (Yrs
11/12).
• Over 95 percent of all primary and high schools are involved
in at least one football program or competition.
• School Based nab AFL Auskick Centres increased from 20
to 34 schools with 500 extra students involved.
• The plan and related strategies for PSA schools entered its
second year with positive outcomes in the coaching and
umpiring areas.
• For the first time all WAFL clubs conducted Educators’ Day
functions.
2007 promises to be another great year for school football
with the following plans:
• To induct another 150 AFLSAs to take us past the 600
mark.
• Introduce the exciting “Faction Footy” competition with a
potential participant base of 30,000 students (many who
have not played before!).
• Introduce a new Yr 8-10 girls competition.
• Encourage all students to register online as a “Footy Fan”.
• Work closely with our development staff and volunteers to
enhance our programs and increase the number of teams
in our competitions.
Our corporate partners are critical to the success of football
programs in schools. Their on-going commitment means that
school football continues to thrive in WA.
The WAFC’s Education Team wishes to recognise the financial
support of all its sponsors and looks forward to their continued
involvement: Healthway, through the ‘Smarter than Smoking’
message; The Insurance Commission of WA and the Office
of Road Safety, through the ‘Belt Up’ message; nab; Burley
Sekem; the AFL; West Coast Eagles; Fremantle Football Club
and AFL Sports Ready.
The WAFC’s Education Team works closely with the
following stakeholders to implement the programs and
strategies in our schools, as we would like to thank them
for their support in 2006: The Department of Education and
Training; Department of Sport and Recreation; Edith Cowan
University; Primary Schools Football Advisory Council; PSA;
Notre Dame University; West Coast and Central TAFE; UWA;
District Football Development Councils; Regional Football
Development Committees; Pilbara Iron; Woodside; School
Sport WA; Secondary Schools Football Advisory Council;
Umpiring WA; WA Country Football League and the WA
Football League for their tremendous support of school
football in WA.

Jan Cooper, Female Football Co-ordinator

nab AFL Auskick – Smarter Than Smoking Development Officers implemented
successful all girl centres Statewide for the first time. The mothers of over 100
participants were put through a Level 1 coach accreditation or introductory
skills clinic by development officers.
Youth – The Smarter Than Smoking Schoolgirls competition attracted 47
metropolitan teams and 30 regional teams. The All-Stars one-day carnival
attracted over 300 spectators who watched six composite teams from across
the State in action.
Coach education – All women’s league coaches completed a Level 1 coach
accreditation course together with others wishing to coach younger girls’
teams.
WA Women’s Football League (WAWFL) – Teams were consolidated off-field
with four becoming aligned with WAFL clubs and one with a Sunday League
club. Two new teams were developed which will ensure a reserves division
is instigated for the first time in 2007. All clubs were involved in a strategic
planning forum ensuring the on-going strength of the league. Focus group
research was conducted with Smarter Than Smoking Schoolgirls players
from six metropolitan teams to ascertain what they want from their football
experience and what would entice them to participate in the WAWFL. The
results assisted the WAWFL in their promotion and marketing strategy
development for 2007 as well as informing the WAFC about competition
development, coaching and umpiring requirements for this age group of
girls.
State Women’s team – For the first time the State team attracted sponsorship
from the WAFC and the 200 Club which enabled them to compete in the
AFL National Women’s Championships in Sydney where they were runnersup to Victoria. As a result of their vast improvement from the previous
championships, State coach Rod Gibson was named All-Australian coach
and players Nikki Harwood, Louise Knitter, Krystle Rivers and Jodie White
were included in the All-Australian team.
Community development – All key districts were addressed and encouraged
to consider females in their planning. Several districts developed pilot
programs such as all girl Auskick centres and 13–15 year-old carnivals or
appointed a female participation delegate to better cater for the burgeoning
number of female participants.
Female in Football Advisory Group – This was convened with 14
representatives from a diverse range of backgrounds. The main issue
developed the inclusion of 13–15 year-old girls in the player pathway.
Promotion and recognition – In partnership with the AFL a Women’s Round
Forum was conducted which attracted 110 participants and an outstanding
panel of women currently involved in the football industry in a variety of roles.
This function allowed the database of females to be instigated for WA.
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FACILITIES

Caryn Gardner, Event Co-ordinator
Subiaco Oval had an outstanding year in 2006, including
three AFL finals, three concerts with international artists, the
commencement of the Western Force season and a rugby Test
match against Ireland.
The aim for 2006, as well as presenting the venue at its best for
AFL and WAFL football, was to increase the oval’s income from
new revenue streams. The oval’s management secured three
concerts over the AFL off season. Management has worked
very closely with Australia’s leading promoters to stage three
successful events, including Pearl Jam and two back-to-back
Robbie Williams concerts. The additional revenue flowed through
to WA’s grassroots football.
The annual attendance was again over one million guests for the
fifth year in a row, with the final total being a record 1,391,339
patrons attending events at Subiaco Oval in 2006.
Included in the total attendance were;
• 52,296 - 3 NAB Cup matches
• 107,862 - 3 Concerts
• 850,438 - 22 West Coast Eagles and Fremantle Football Club
matches
• 128,840 - 3 AFL Finals
• 26,102 - 2 WAFL Finals
• 38,200 - 1 Rugby Test match - Australia v Ireland
West Coast Eagles averaged 41,116 patrons per match and sold
out all of their 11 home fixtures. Fremantle Football Club had an
average of 36,571 patrons attend each home match.

The AFL kicked off with a nab Cup derby in February and set the scene
for a successful year for the West Coast Eagles, resulting in two home
AFL finals appearances before winning the grand final.
The WAFC negotiated with Rugby WA to host six home matches for the
Western Force in the Super 14’s competition, which has teams from
Australia, New Zealand and South Africa competing. The season started
on February 10 and concluded on April 21, 2006. The Western Force will
continue to use Subiaco Oval as their home ground until 2009.
The oval’s management and its caterer, Spotless, implemented a revised
liquor license with the Director of Liquor Licensing, WA Police and the
City of Subiaco, as well as upgrading its alcohol management plans for
the 2006 season. The changes around the oval worked extremely well
and the feedback from all was very favourable.
The WAFC again hired out its video screen panels during the AFL off
season, to generate additional revenue. The SubiScreen business
hired screens to the WA Turf Club for the Perth Cup, Melbourne Cup
and Summer Carnival, at Gloucester Park for Telstra Rally Australia,
ANZAC Day Ceremony on The Esplanade, WACA International Cricket
matches, concerts at Sandalford and Kings Park, the Royal Show and
the RockIt concerts at Arena Joondalup. The screens will be used at new
events including Hopman Cup at Burswood and the Leeuwin concerts
in Margaret River.
The venue also hired out its event management expertise and casual
event staff to Telstra Rally Australia, Burswood Dome, RockIt, Sandalford
Winery and was involved in the Fremantle International Beer Festival at
Fremantle Oval in March 2006.

UMPIRING
ADMINISTRATION

In 2006 WAFC Umpiring assessed its strategies, systems and
structures relating to the recruitment, training and retention of
umpires.
This process was fundamental in ensuring that the future sustainable
growth of umpiring was in step with the upward trend of State game
growth.
WAFC Umpiring acknowledges all concerned for their support, advice
and commitment through this rapid and significant period of change.
The WAFC Umpiring team remains committed to the challenge of
delivering and maintaining a consistent high level of competent game
service while promoting the image, value and rewards of entering the
umpire participation pathway.

SPONSORSHIP

The partnership between WAFC Umpiring and major sponsor Rick Hart
has been in place for a number of years and umpiring takes great pride
in professionally representing the Rick Hart group at all levels of game
participation throughout WA. In 2007 our official umpire uniform will
again carry the Rick Hart logo and we look forward to continuing our
excellent relationship for years to come.

AFL

The overall standard set by WA umpires at AFL level reflected positively
on this State’s ability to produce umpires given selection criteria and
performance-based targets set at AFL level. Two of the prime reasons
behind that success were John Marrapodi and Sean Fairfoul who
manage our AFL goal and boundary teams so professionally.
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We also recognise the AFL Melbourne-based umpiring team of Jeff
Gieschen, Rowan Sawyers and Peter Howe for their support.

WAFL

The WAFL Umpiring Panel represents this State’s elite umpiring group
and they set the standards for all other State competition umpiring
groups.
Providing the highest level of service for the WAFL remains a priority
and represents one of the most challenging and rewarding aspects
associated with WAFC Umpiring.
I wish to thank everyone concerned from our trainers through to our
WAFL head coach for their superb efforts. Special recognition goes
to; manager Darryl Sinclair; field coach Peter Repper; boundary coach
Peter Frusher; goal coach Colin Shawcross; head trainer Daryl Chatt
and fitness coach Rob Suriano.

WAFL ACADEMY

SENIOR COMMUNITY

Key advancements were made at this level in 2006, however, we
remain aware of the need to increase our level of commitment in 2007.
Securing an adequate and central training venue for our largest State
senior umpiring panel was a priority.
Season 2006 was crucially important given the future direction
strategies and we acknowledge West Australian Amateur Football
League CEO Brendan Cullinan and operations manager Geoff Palmer
for their involvement.
The overall standard of umpiring was high and we recognise the
coaching team lead by Greg Gilbee and our appointment co-ordinator
Des Morgan.

WACFL

The new country umpire development and competition model was
implemented in 2006 to integrate umpiring into the new WAFC
country structure.
Our thanks go to the WACFL general manager Cameron Knapton and
WACFL development manager Dale Ballantyne. To WACFL president
Ken Baxter, executive members, all league and association presidents,
I congratulate you on an outstanding 2006 and for your professional
commitment and contribution.

WANFLUA

One of the key driving forces behind WAFC Umpiring is the volunteer
work carried out by the executive and committee members of the
WANFLUA.
The yearly statistics, recognition awards, umpire promotion, year
book and social interaction of umpires plays an integral and decisive
role while ensuring that the proud history, culture and tradition of
WAFL Umpiring continues to flourish.

In 2006, 27 umpires progressed through the development squad
under the guidance of Sav Borg and Terry Battle. We will maintain
this development squad throughout 2007 and re-establish the WAFL
Talent Academy.

2006 awards:
Montgomery Medal (Field Umpire-of-the-Year 2006): Greg Bandy
Devine Medal (Boundary Umpire-of-the-Year 2006): David Kennedy
Carter Medal (Goal Umpire-of-the-Year 2006): Dale Edwick

DEVELOPMENT

I sincerely thank all 2006 members and life members of the WANFLUA
for their dedicated efforts and expertise in shaping a positive
environment for all of our umpires. I would like to make special
mention of WANFLUA President Greg Bandy and David Shawcross
for their guidance and support. WAFC Umpiring looks forward to the
on-going partnership as we continue to develop and grow umpiring
at this elite level.

Our central development structure was refined and appropriately
resourced to link essential umpire development strategic programs
into the WAFL District Development Model.
This will ensure a more consistent and productive outcome in
recruitment, accreditation and mentor programs as these relate to
under 17s community competitions that represent 84 percent of our
participation market.
One of the key initiatives undertaken by our umpire development
manager in 2006 was the PSA Umpire Program. This was a success
with 60 students introduced to umpiring through a quality driven
school-based training package.
We acknowledge the leadership and support from AFL national
development manager Adrian Panozzo and the 2006 umpire
development team that includes development manager Tim Priest;
development officer north Paul Pitchers and development officer
south Glenn Omodei.

RECOGNITION

The Department of Sport and Recreation and in particular Liane Tooth,
the officiating and coaching consultant, must be acknowledged. DSR
are the premier consultant and leadership vehicle and play a major
role for all sporting organisations in WA.
It is with great pleasure that I acknowledge the outstanding support
and coverage received from our 2006 Media Award winner, Access
31. The 2006 WAFL ON program presented a unique opportunity for
umpiring and we sincerely thank all concerned.
Steve Hargrave, General Manager Umpiring
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200 CLUB AND

STATE OF ORIGIN FUNCTION
Five first-time players were selected in this year’s WA State of Origin
team.
Nathan Carroll, Steven Dodd, Michael Johnson, Aaron Sandilands and
Quinten Lynch were selected in the prestigious team for the first time
at the combined 200 Club and State of Origin function at Subiaco Oval
in August.

Back Line
James Clement
(Coll)

Darren Glass
(WCE)

Nathan Carroll
(Melb)

Eight players from each of West Coast and Fremantle and one each
from Collingwood, Melbourne, Brisbane, Geelong, Hawthorn and the
Kangaroos were selected in the side.

Shane Parker
(FFC)

Fremantle captain Peter Bell was chosen as the leader of the side.

Half Back Line
Tyson Stenglein
(WCE)

Michael Johnson
(FFC)
Centre

Daniel Kerr
(WCE)

Simon Black
(Brisb)

Joel Corey
(Geel)

Three players and one umpire were inducted into the 200 Club, with
the recently retired Brendon Logan and Craig Callaghan being joined
by WAFL consecutive games record holder Joel Cornelius, while umpire
Jamie Giles was also recognised.
SATTERLEY 2006 WA STATE OF ORIGIN TEAM

Ben Cousins
(WCE)

Adam Hunter
(WCE)

Des Headland
(FFC)

HALF FORWARD LINE
Jeff Farmer
(FFC)

Quinten Lynch
(WCE)
Forward Line

Mark Williams
(HAW)

Ruck
Dean Cox (WCE), Josh Carr (FFC), Peter Bell (FFC)
Interchange
Aaron Sandilands (FFC), Steven Dodd (FFC), Andrew Embley (WCE),
Daniel Wells (Kang)
Coach
John Worsfold (WCE)
Umpire:
Dean Margetts

FOOTBALL

MEDIA AWARDS

The media plays a vital role in the promotion of football at all levels throughout the year and again their contribution was acknowledged
at the annual Football Media Awards.
The 2006 awards, held in conjunction with the Football Media Guild of WA, were held on Tuesday, November 14 in the Polly Farmer
Room at Subiaco Oval.
Print, television, radio and photographic media coverage was recognised on the evening through the presentation of a wide range of
awards, while presentations were also made by various WAFC departments including WA Football Development, WA Country Football
and Umpiring.
The following awards were presented:

RADIO AWARDS

Tim Flynn Best Match Caller				
Clint Wheeldon – 90.5 Sport FM
Brien Thirley Best Expert Commentator			
Ken Judge – ABC Radio
Dick Buchanan Best News Story			
6PR – Sports Central

NEWSPAPER AWARDS
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Jack Lee Best News Story			
Craig O’Donoghue – The West Australian
Ross Elliott Best Match Report				
Digby Beacham – The Sunday Times
Alan Newman Best Feature Story			
Ray Wilson – The West Australian
		
Bernie Kirwan-Ward Best WAFL story			
Ross Lewis – The West Australian

PHOTOGRAPHIC AWARDS

Rod Locke Best WAFL Photograph			
Bruce Rollerson – Football Budget
Best AFL Photograph					
William Crabb

TELEVISION AWARDS

Best News Presentation				
Caty Price – Network Ten
Mick Cronin Best Feature Story or Program		
David DeVos – ABC TV
Frank Sparrow Award Best Match Caller or Expert Commentator
Not awarded
Best Match Report/Package				
Caty Price – Network Ten

OTHER AWARDS

WA Country Football League Award 			
Brad Elborough – South Western Times
WA Country Development Award 			
Steve Tuohey – Geraldton Guardian
WA Metropolitan Development Award 			
Stuart McLea – Football Budget
Umpiring Award 					
WAFL ON – Access 31
Best Student Journalist
Matthew Biddle – Curtin University

SANDOVER

MEDALLISTS

YEAR

WINNER

CLUB

1921

Tom Outridge
Cyril Hoft**
Harold Boyd
W (Digger) Thomas
Jim Gosnell
George Owens
John Leonard
Jim Craig
Jack Rocchi
W (Billy) Thomas
John Leonard**
Ted Flemming
Lin Richards
Keith Hough
Sammy Clarke
Sammy Clarke
Lou Daily
George Krepp
George Moloney
Frank Jenkins
Haydn Bunton (Snr.)
Haydn Bunton (Snr.)
E. (Checker) O’Keefe
Haydn Bunton (Snr.)
Laurie Bowen
Terry Moriarty
Jim Davies
George Bailey
John Loughridge
Clive Lewington
Merv McIntosh
Gordon Maffina
Jim Conway
Frank Allen**
Fred Buttsworth
Steve Marsh
Merv McIntosh
Merv McIntosh
John Todd
Graham Farmer
Jack Clarke
Graham Farmer**
Ted Kilmurray
Brian Foley
Graham Farmer
Neville Beard
Ray Sorrell**
Haydn Bunton (Jnr.)
Ray Sorrell
Barry Cable
Bill Walker
Bill Walker

Subiaco
Perth
West Perth
East Perth
West Perth
East Perth
Subiaco
West Perth
South Fremantle
East Perth
Subiaco
West Perth
East Fremantle
Claremont/Cottesloe
Claremont/Cottesloe
Claremont/Cottesloe
Subiaco
Swan Districts
Claremont
South Fremantle
Subiaco
Subiaco
West Perth
Subiaco
West Perth
Perth
Swan Districts
Perth
West Perth
South Fremantle
Perth
Claremont
East Fremantle
East Perth
West Perth
South Fremantle
Perth
Perth
South Fremantle
East Perth
East Fremantle
East Perth
East Perth
West Perth
East Perth
Perth
East Fremantle
Swan Districts
East Fremantle
Perth
Swan Districts
Swan Districts

1922
1923
1924
1925
1926
1927
1928
1929
1930
1931
1932
1933
1934
1935
1936
1937
1938
1939
1940
1941
1942
1943
1944
1945
1946
1947
1948
1949
1950
1951
1952
1953
1954
1955
1956
1957
1958
1959
1960
1961
1962
1963
1964
1965
1966

NO. OF VOTES
6
4
6
7
5
5
5
*23
34
32
15
24
25
25
30
34
27
20
29
22
13
28
33
24
26
22
22
17
23
23
25
20
14
22
25
15
19
19
20
24
26
22
22
22
20
23
24
20

1967

1968
1969
1970
1971
1972
1973
1974
1975
1976
1977
1978
1979
1980
1981
1982
1983
1984

1985
1986
1987
1988
1989
1990
1991
1992
1993
1994
1995
1996
1997
1998
1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006

Bill Walker
Swan Districts
John Parkinson
Claremont
Equal first, each presented with a medal
Barry Cable
Perth
Malcolm Brown
East Perth
Pat Dalton
Perth
Bill Walker**
Swan Districts
David Hollins
East Fremantle
Ian Miller
Perth
Barry Cable
Perth
Graham Melrose
East Fremantle
Alan Quartermaine
East Perth
Peter Spencer
East Perth
Brian Peake
East Fremantle
Phil Kelly
East Perth
Phil Kelly
East Perth
Stephen Michael
South Fremantle
Stephen Michael
South Fremantle
Phil Narkle
Swan Districts
John Ironmonger
East Perth
Bryan Cousins**
Perth
Peter Spencer
East Perth
Michael Mitchell
Claremont
Steve Malaxos
Claremont
3-way tie
Murray Wrensted
East Fremantle
Mark Bairstow
South Fremantle
Mark Watson
Perth
David Bain
East Perth
Craig Edwards
South Fremantle
Mick Grasso
Swan Districts
Ian Dargie
Subiaco
Robbie West
West Perth
Neil Mildenhall
West Perth
Ian Dargie
Subiaco
Craig Treleven
East Fremantle
Jeremy Wasley
Swan Districts
Brady Anderson
East Perth
Adrian Bromage
East Fremantle
Gus Seebeck
Perth
Richard Ambrose
Subiaco
Ryan Turnbull
East Perth
Allistair Pickett
Peel
Shane Beros
Swan Districts
Allistair Pickett
Subiaco
Jaxon Crabb
Claremont
Toby McGrath
South Fremantle
Matthew Priddis
Subiaco

* Voting changed to 3-2-1
+ Countback system dropped
** Retrospective Medals awarded in 1997
*** Voting changed to 5-4-3-2-1
Introduction of National competition

19
19
25
21
17
17
26
20
25
20
16
21
24
26
26
24
37
19
16
16
+17
+17
+17
***46
39
30
42
39
36
34
32
38
34
43
37
30
32
33
34
31
33
39
42
39
39
58
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LIFE MEMBERS

AND PAST PRESIDENTS

28

LIFE MEMBERS
Knox F T
Read E G
Capp J
Farley W J
Sholl R H
Cecil T
Breen J
Roche W
Udy E
Gray F
O’Neill R G
Moffatt A A
Webb J
Cookson S
Tucker J
Shelton W O
Jamieson A
Barratt R H
Orr J
Scaddan J
Mansfield P
Boas L T
Bray F I
McMahon P G
Simons J J
Wilson T C
Allanson W
Norton C G
Stooke W
Jeffery S F
Ryan L
Rodriguez R P
Snow S J
Reid T C
Book F D
Morris B
Brown L J
Cinoris L
Neilsen T H
Leckie H S
Fogarty P J
Soutar T W
Harrison F W
Young W
Orr W R
Outridge T
Lowry L G
Kemp C R
Miller K W
Fogarty G V	
Moiler A T
Fletcher R P
Fuhrmann F C
O’Dea J F
Holdsworth H E
White A F
Collins W J
Exell F
Smith R C
Cowan M G
Gabbedy J P
Corbett R A
Cook E B
Giles B J

1902
1902
1905
1905
1905
1906
1906
1906
1907
1908
1909
1909
1909
1909
1910
1910
1910
1913
1913
1913
1914
1914
1915
1915
1919
1924
1928
1929
1930
1931
1932
1935
1936
1937
1943
1944
1945
1947
1948
1949
1950
1951
1952
1953
1954
1955
1956
1957
1959
1960
1961
1963
1964
1965
1966
1967
1968
1969
1970
1971
1972
1973
1974
1974

Ferguson A T
Roper L A
Moses S E
Somervaille J D
Yovich V	
Davies J D
Hart R
Cooper J
Houghton C W
Maskiell W K
O’Sullivan B M
Walker* W H
Annear A R
Morgan H
Byfield A S
Waldock L
Cicerello A
Todd J*
Scott R
Tannock P
Lussick J
O’Connell J
Forrest W
Judge N
Atkinson B
Edwards K
Louden W
James T
Fuller B
Doig G*
Cable B*
Farmer G*
Marsh S*
Sheedy J*
McIntosh M*
Moss G*
PAST PRESIDENTS
Wood BC (Inaugural)
Keane E V H
Dixson H R
Darlot E F
Back W
Diamond A J
O’Beirne T
Doyle H
Barrett R H
Roche N
Sholl R A
O’Neil R G
Price W
Orr J
O’Neil R G
Moffat A A
Stooke W
Rodriguez R P
Miller K
Davies J
Yovich V	
Annear R
Morgan H
Tannock P D
Mackinnon B J
Fong N W
* WA Football Hall of Fame Legend

1975
1975
1976
1976
1977
1978
1978
1981
1982
1982
1983
1985
1987
1989
1989
1990
1990
1991
1995
2000
2000
2001
2001
2003
2005
2005
2005
2006
2006
2006
2006
2006
2006
2006
2006
2006
1885
1886 & 1888
1891
1892
1893-1894
1895
1896
1897-1898
1899-1901
1902-1903
1904
1905-1909
1910
1911-1913
1913-1919
1920-1932
1932-1951
1951-1964
1964-1975
1975-1981
1981-1985
1985-1987
1987-1989
1989-1998
1999-2001
2002-
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WEST AUSTRALIAN FOOTBALL COMMISSION INCORPORATED

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S DECLARATION

We, being the Chairman of the Board of Commissioners and Chief Executive respectively of the West Australian Football Commission
Incorporated, do hereby state that to the best of our knowledge and belief, the accompanying financial statements, being the Income
Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement and Notes to and forming part of the financial statements of the West Australian Football Commission Incorporated for the year ended 31 October 2006 and that the Balance Sheet gives
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Commission at that date.

Chairman of the Board of Commissioners
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Chief Executive
Perth
15 February 2007

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT

TO MEMBERS OF WEST AUSTRALIAN FOOTBALL COMMISSION INC
Scope
The financial report and directors’ responsibility
The financial report comprises the balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement, statement of changes in equity and
accompanying notes to the financial statements, and the Executive Officer’s declaration for West Australian Football Commission
Incorporated (the association) and the consolidated entity, for the year ended 31 October 2006.
The association’s committee of management is responsible for preparing a financial report that gives a true and fair view
of the financial position and performance of the association, and that complies with Accounting Standards in Australia, in
accordance with the Associations Incorporation Act (WA) and the association’s constitution. This includes responsibility for
the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and error,
and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the financial report.
Audit approach
We conducted an independent audit of the financial report in order to express an opinion on it to the members of the association.
Our audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards in order to provide reasonable assurance as to
whether the financial report is free of material misstatement. The nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of
professional judgement, selective testing, the inherent limitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather
than conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been detected.
We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance with the
Associations Incorporation Act (WA), including compliance with Accounting Standards in Australia, and other mandatory financial
reporting requirements in Australia, and the association’s constitution, a view which is consistent with our understanding of the
association’s financial position, and of their performance as represented by the results of their operations and cash flows.
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We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:
• examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial report,
and
• assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by the committee of management.
While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting when determining the nature
and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal controls.
We performed procedures to assess whether the substance of business transactions was accurately reflected in the financial
report. These and our other procedures did not include consideration or judgement of the appropriateness or reasonableness
of the business plans or strategies adopted by the committee of management of the association.
Independence
We are independent of the association, and have met the independence requirements of Australian professional ethical
pronouncements. In addition to our audit of the financial report, we were engaged to undertake the services disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements. The provision of these services has not impaired our independence.
Audit opinion
In our opinion, the financial report of WA Football Commission Incorporated is in accordance with:
(a)

Associations Incorporation Act (WA), including:
(i)

giving a true and fair view of the financial position of WA Football Commission Incorporated and the 		
consolidated entity at 31 October 2006 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii)

complying with Accounting Standards in Australia; and

(b) other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia.

Ernst & Young

G H Meyerowitz
Partner
Perth
15 Feburary 2007

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 0CTOBER 2006
Consolidated

Note
		

2006
$

WAFC Inc
2005
$

2006
$

2005		
$

Continuing operations						
Revenue
4
83,873,221
77,254,066
Cost of sales
5
20,144,265
16,872,428
				
GROSS PROFIT
63,728,956
60,381,638
Administration expenses		
Marketing expenses		
Corporate expenses		
Borrowing costs expensed		
Football expenses		
Supporter development expenses		
Development expenses		
Communication and corporate affairs		
Facility expenses		
Umpire expenses		
Share of (profit)/loss in associated entity		
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE
INCOME TAX	
INCOME TAX EXPENSE
NET PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO
MEMBERS OF WAFC

20(d)

22,275,255
-

23,876,050
-

22,275,255

23,876,050

5,235,355
2,069,378
5,788,826
1,969,851
32,690,571
359,144
3,312,576
319,428
5,591,395
911,679
(64)

7,754,347
1,899,050
5,864,437
2,806,389
27,972,983
308,229
2,729,890
251,630
5,493,710
888,600
(1,905)

5,123,519
1,969,851
4,247,163
3,312,576
5,891,395
894,573
-

5,053,509
2,792,041
4,098,708
2,729,890
5,493,710
888,600
-

5,480,817

4,414,278

836,178

2,819,592

-

-

-

-

5,480,817

4,414,278

836,178

2,819,592
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BALANCE SHEET

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 0CTOBER 2006
Consolidated

Note
		

2006
$

WAFC Inc
2005
$

2006
$

2005		
$

CURRENT ASSETS						
Cash and cash equivalents
6
11,750,381
20,379,224
3,052,781
10,485,635
Trade and other receivables
7
8,234,003
6,668,267
6,921,164
5,537,391
Inventories
8
1,128,725
526,251
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS		

21,113,109

27,573,742

9,973,945

16,023,026

NON-CURRENT ASSETS						
Other financial assets
9
6,616,936
2,110,946
2,110,946
Investment in Joint venture
10
14,455
14,391
Property, plant and equipment
11
58,255,221
60,463,918
53,813,527
55,796,398
Investment properties
12
1,262,761
267,000
1,262,761
Asset under construction		
361,693
Intangible assets
13
8,000,000
8,000,000
-
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TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS		

74,511,066

68,745,309

57,187,234

57,907,344

TOTAL ASSETS		

95,624,175

96,319,051

67,161,179

73,930,370

CURRENT LIABILITIES						
Trade and other payables
14
17,370,459
12,720,272
8,776,961
5,221,527
Interest bearing liabilities
15
7,100,000
7,100,000
Provisions
16
2,340,929
1,572,015
277,462
219,506
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES		

19,711,388

21,392,287

9,054,423

12,541,033

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES						
Payables
17
14,918,792
19,382,383
17,026,445
21,161,552
Interest bearing liabilities
18
10,406,584
10,406,551
10,406,348
10,406,348
Provisions
19
448,268
509,721
260,148
243,800
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES		

25,773,644

30,298,655

27,692,941

31,811,700

TOTAL LIABILITIES		

45,485,032

51,690,942

36,747,364

44,352,733

NET ASSETS		

50,139,143

44,628,109

30,413,815

29,577,637

ACCUMULATED FUNDS						
Accumulated surplus
20
48,359,705
43,764,996
30,413,815
29,577,637
Reserves
20
1,779,438
863,113
TOTAL ACCUMULATED FUNDS		

50,139,143

44,628,109

30,413,815

29,577,637

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 0CTOBER 2006
Accumulated
Reserves
Total Equity
Surplus			
$
$
$

At 1 November 2004
Transfer to accumulated surplus on transition to AIFRS
Goodwill written off on transition to AIFRS
Write back of accumulated amortisation of AFL Licence

28,022,516
13,570,689
41,593,205
			
12,725,315
(12,725,315)
			
(1,131,021)
(1,131,021)
			
(248,353)
(248,353)
			

Total income and expense for the period recognised
directly in equity
39,368,457
845,374
40,213,831
				
(17,739)
17,739 Transfer to undistributable profits reserve
4,414,278
				
At 31 October 2005
43,764,996
863,113
44,628,109
					
Profit for the year

4,414,278

At 1 November 2005
43,764,996
863,113
44,628,109
				
Total income and expense for the period recognised
directly in equity
43,764,996
863,113
44,628,109
					
Transfer to undistributable profits reserve
(886,108)
886,108
Fair value of available for sale investments
Redemption of unsecured notes
Profit for the year
At 31 October 2006

-

30,250

30,250

(33)
(33)
5,480,817
5,480,817
				
48,359,705
1,779,438
50,139,143
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 0CTOBER 2006
Accumulated
Reserves
Total Equity
Surplus			
$
$
$

At 1 November 2004

13,429,723

13,686,857

27,116,580

Transfer to accumulated surplus on transition to AIFRS

13,686,857

(13,686,857)

-

(358,535)

-

(358,535)

26,758,045

-

26,758,045

2,819,592

-

2,819,592

At 31 October 2005

29,577,637

-

29,577,637

At 1 November 2005

29,577,637

-

29,577,637

Total income and expense for the period
recognised directly in equity

29,577,637

-

29,577,637

836,178

-

836,178

30,413,815

-

30,413,815

AIFRS adjustments
Total income and expense for the period
recognised directly in equity
Profit for the year
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Profit for the year
At 31 October 2006

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 0CTOBER 2006
Consolidated

Note
		

2006
$

WAFC Inc
2005
$

2006
$

2005		
$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING						
ACTIVITIES						
Receipts from customers		
77,964,670
70,341,739
16,627,676
18,331,014
Payments to suppliers and employees		
(70,811,427)
(49,154,488)
(15,377,999)
(887,367)
Interest received		
1,145,466
778,540
148,350
158,367
Borrowing costs		
(808,250)
(1,544,821)
(808,250)
(1,530,470)
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
7,490,459
20,420,970
589,777
16,071,544
ACTIVITIES
6(c)
				
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING						
ACTIVITIES						
Purchase of property, plant and equipment		
(1,436,855)
(1,244,798)
(616,790)
(343,363)
Purchase of available for sale investments		
(6,586,686)
Purchase of investment properties		
(1,262,761)		
(1,262,761)
Proceeds from sale of investment property		
267,000
Proceeds from sale of property, plant 						
and equipment		
16,100
1,837
Advances from related parties		
956,920
1,340,191
NET CASH FLOWS USED IN						
INVESTING ACTIVITIES		
(9,019,302)
(1,228,698)
(922,631)
998,665
						
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES						
Repayment of Commercial Bills		
(7,100,000)
(7,400,000)
(7,100,000)
(7,400,000)
Repayment of borrowings – other		
(2,056,312)
(1,712,779)
NET CASH FLOWS USED IN						
(7,100,000)
(9,456,312)
(7,100,000)
(9,112,779)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
				
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS		
(8,628,843)
9,735,960
(7,432,854)
7,957,430
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period		
20,379,224
10,643,264
10,485,635
2,528,205
				
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF PERIOD
6(a)
11,750,381
20,379,224
3,052,781
10,485,635
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 0CTOBER 2006

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
The financial report of West Australian Football Commission (the
Company) for the year ended 31 October 2006 was authorised
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 15
February 2007.
West Australian Football Commission is a company limited by
shares that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia.
The registered office of West Australian Football Commission is
located at:
Gate 6, Subiaco Oval
Subiaco Road
SUBIACO WA 6008
The nature of the operations and principal activities of the company
is to promote and encourage the participation and growth in
football.
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The entity employed 71 employees as of 31 October 2006 (this
includes 7 part time employees and two employees on maternity
leave) (2005: 60 employees).
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of Accounting
The financial report is a general-purpose financial report, which
has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the

Associations Incorporation Act (WA) and Australian Accounting
Standards. The financial report has also been prepared on a
historical cost basis, except for available-for-sale investments,
which have been measured at fair value.
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all values
are rounded to the nearest dollar.
(b) Statement of compliance
The financial report complies with the Corporations Act 2001,
the recognition, measurement and classification requirements
of Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian
equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS),
and the disclosure requirements of Accounting Standards AASB
101 Presentation of Financial Statements, AASB 107 Cash Flow
Statements and AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors.
This is the first financial report prepared based on AIFRS and
comparatives for the year ended 31 October 2005 have been
restated accordingly except for the adoption of AASB 132 Financial
Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and AASB 139 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The Company
has adopted the exemption under AASB 1 First-time Adoption
of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting
Standards from having to apply AASB 132 and AASB 139 to the
comparative period. Reconciliations of AIFRS equity and profit for
31 October 2005 to the balances reported in the 31 October 2005
financial report and at transition to AIFRS are detailed in note 26.

Australian Accounting Standards that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective have not been adopted for the annual
reporting period ending 31 October 2006:
AASB
Amendment

Affected Standard(s)

Nature of change to
accounting policy

Application date
of standard *

Application date
for Group

2005-1

AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement

No change to accounting policy
required. Therefore not impact

1 January 2006

1 November 2006

2005-4

AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement, AASB 132 Financial Instruments:
Disclosure and Presentation, and AASB 1 First-time
adoption of AIFRS

No change to accounting policy
required. Therefore not impact

1 January 2006

1 November 2006

2005-5

AASB 1 First-time adoption of AIFRS and AASB
139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement

No change to accounting policy
required. Therefore not impact

1 January 2006

1 November 2006

2005-6

AASB 3 Business Combinations

No change to accounting policy
required. Therefore not impact

1 January 2006

1 November 2006

2005-9

AASB Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement and AASB 132 Financial Instruments:
Disclosure and Presentation

No change to accounting policy
required. Therefore not impact

1 January 2006

1 November 2006

2005-10

AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and
Presentation, AASB 101 Presentation of Financial
Statements, AASB 114 Segment Reporting, AASB
117 Leases, AASB 133 Earnings per Share, AASB
139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measure,
AASB First-time adoption of AIFRS

No change to accounting policy
required. Therefore not impact

1 January 2007

1 November 2006

* Application date is for the annual reporting periods beginning on or after the date shown in the above table.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
The following amendments are not applicable to the Group and
therefore have no impact:
AASB
Amendment
2005-2
2005-4
2005-9

2005-12
2005-13
2006-1
-

-

-

Affected Standard(s)/UIG(s)
AASB 1023: General Insurance Contracts
AASB 1023: General Insurance Contracts; and
AASB 1038: Life Insurance Contracts
AASB 4: Insurance Contracts; and
AASB 1023: General Insurance Contracts; and
AASB 1028: Life Insurance Contracts.
AASB 1038: Life Insurance contracts; and
AASB 1023: General Insurance
A AS 25: Financial Reporting by Superannuation
Plans
AASB121 The effects of Change in Foreign
Currency Rates
AASB7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures
AASB119 Defined Benefit Fund
UIG 4 Determining whether an Arrangement 		
contains a Lease
UIG 5 Rights to Interest in Decommissioning, 		
Restoration and
Environmental Rehabilitation Funds
UIG 6 Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific
Market – Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment
UIG 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under AASB
129
Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
UIG 8 Scope of AASB 2
UIG 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

(c) Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements
of West Australian Football Commission Incorporated (WAFC) and all
entities which WAFC controlled as at 31 October each year.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting
policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies which may exist.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter-company
balances and transactions, income and expenses and profit and losses
resulting from intra-group transactions have been eliminated in full.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred out of the Group.

(d) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and
assumptions
(i) Significant accounting judgement
The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often
determined based on estimates and assumptions of future events.
The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing material misstatement to the carrying amounts of
certain assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting
periods are:
Annual Leave
Liabilities for annual leave expected to be settled within twelve
months of the reporting date are recognised in provisions in
respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date. They
are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled.
Long Service Leave
A liability for long service leave is recognised, and is measured
as the present value of expected future payments to be made in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date. Consideration is given to expected future wages and salary
levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service.
Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at
the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to
maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the
estimated future cash outflows.
(ii) Significant accounting estimates and assumptions
The carrying amount of certain assets and liabilities are often
determined based on estimates and assumptions of future events.
The key estimate and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
certain assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting
period are:
Intangibles with indefinite useful lives
The Group determines whether intangibles with indefinitely
useful lives are impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires
estimations on the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
units to which the intangibles with indefinitely useful lives are
allocated.
(e) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be
reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must
also be met before revenue is recognised.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont'd)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 0CTOBER 2006

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(f) Deferred Revenue

(e) Revenue recognition (cont’d)

Deferred revenue is recognised in the income statement as each
payment becomes due and payable. It includes
• grant from the State Government as set out under the terms of the
Finance Agreement between the WAFC and the State Government;
and
• prepaid sponsorship. This deferred revenue has been discounted
using the effective interest method and the revenue discounted
with this is recognised as the costs relating to the sponsorship
are incurred.

Sale of Goods
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer and the cost
incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be
measured reliably. Risks and rewards of ownership are considered
passed to the buyer at the time of delivery of the goods to the
customers.

(g) Borrowing costs
Rendering of Services
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.
Where the contract outcome can be reliably measured:
(h) Leases
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- control of a right to be compensated for the services has been
attained and the stage of completion can be reliably measured.
For Indian Pacific Limited (‘IPL’) and Fremantle Football Club
Limited (‘FFC’), stage of completion is measured by reference to
the number of matches played as a percentage of the total number
of matches for each contract. For WAFL stage of completion is
measured by reference to sponsorship periods fulfilled as a
percentage of total sponsorship contract period.
Where the contract outcome cannot be reliably measured:
- revenue is recognised only to the extent that costs have been
incurred.
Interest
The Group has elected to apply the option available under AASB
1 of adopting AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 1 November 2005.
Outlined below are the relevant accounting policies for interest
income applicable for the years ending 31 October 2006 and 31
October 2005.

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a
lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires
an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement
is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.
(i) Group as a lessee
Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the
risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are
recognized at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased
property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease
payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance
charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance
charges are recognized as an expense in profit or loss.
Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the
estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term if there is no
reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the
end of the lease term.

Accounting policies applicable for the year ending 31 October 2006
Revenue is recognized as interest accrues using the effective
interest method. This is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the
relevant period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.
Accounting policies applicable for the year ending 31 October 2005
Revenue is recognised when control of a right to receive the interest
payment is established.

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the
income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Lease incentives are recognized in the income statement as an
integral part of the total lease expense.
(i) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and short-term deposits in the balance sheet comprised of
cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original
maturity of three months or less.

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash
equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above,
net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are carried at
the principal amount. Interest is recognised as an expense as it
accrues.
(j) Trade and other receivables
The Group has elected to apply the option available under AASB
1 of adopting AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 1 November 2005.
Outlined below are the relevant accounting policies for trade and
other receivables applicable for the years ending 31 October 2006
and 31 October 2005.
Accounting policies applicable for the year ending 31 October 2006
Trade receivables, which generally have 30 day terms, are recognized
and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any
uncollectible amounts.
An allowance for doubtful debts is made when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the debts. Bad
debts are written off when identified.
Accounting policies applicable for the year ending 31 October 2005
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice
amount less a provision for any uncollectible debts. An estimate
for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no
longer probable. Bad debts are written-off as incurred.

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured
at fair value. The Group determines the classification of its financial
assets after initial recognition and, when allowed and appropriate,
re-evaluates this designation at each financial year end.
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the Group commits
to purchase the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets under contracts that require delivery of
the assets within the period established generally by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
(i) Available for sale investments
Available for sale investments are those non-derivative financial
assets that are designated as available for sale or are not
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
or held to maturity investments. After initial recognition available
for sale investments are measured at fair value with gains or
losses being recognised as a separate component of equity
until the investment is derecognised or until the investment is
determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain
or loss previously reported in equity is recognised in profit
and loss.
(ii) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method. Gains or losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised
or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Receivables from related parties are recognised and carried at the
nominal amount due. Interest is taken up as income on an accrual
basis

Accounting policies applicable for the year ending 31 October 2005.

(k) Inventories

Listed shares were carried at the lower of cost and net market
value. Changes in net market value were recognised as a revenue
or expense in determining net profit for the period.

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Inventories are accounted for at purchase cost on a first in first
out basis.

All other non-current investments were carried at the lower of cost
and recoverable amount.

(l) Investments

(m)

The Group has elected to apply the option available under AASB 1 of
adopting AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 1 November 2005. Outlined
below are the relevant accounting policies for investments applicable
for the years ending 31 October 2005 and 31 October 2006.

The Group has an interest in a jointly controlled operation. A joint
venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties
undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control.
A jointly controlled operation involves use of assets and other
resources of the venturers rather than establishment of a separate
entity. The Group recognises its interest in the jointly controlled
operation by recognising the assets that it controls and the liabilities
that it incurs. The Group also recognises the expenses that it incurs
and its share of the income that it earns from the sale of goods or
services by the jointly controlled operation.

Accounting policies applicable for the year ending 31 October 2006.
Financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement are classified as either financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss or loans and receivables.

Interest in jointly controlled entity
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Depreciation

(n) Taxes

Depreciation of leasehold improvements, calculated on a straight
line basis over the lesser of its estimated useful life or the term of
the lease.

Income Taxes
The WAFC and its controlled entities, FFC and IPL, are not subject
to income tax. WAFC obtained exemption under s50-45 of the ITAA
(1997) as it is a sporting club and it promotes and encourages the
participation and growth in the sport.
Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognised net of the
amount of GST except:
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- Where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is
not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the
GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset
or as part of the expense item as applicable; and
- Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST
included.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation
authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the Balance
Sheet.
Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross
basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing
and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the
taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.
(o) Property, Plant and Equipment

Depreciation of other fixed assets, calculated on the reducing balance
method or on a straight line basis over its estimated useful life.
Major depreciation periods are:				
2006
2005
• Property, plant and equipment - 4 to 40 years - 4 to 40 years
• Leasehold improvements
- 5 to 50 years - 5 to 50 years
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each financial
year.
(o) Property, Plant and Equipment (cont’d)
Impairment
The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for
impairment at each reporting date, with recoverable amount being
estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may not be recoverable.
The directors have determined that items of plant and equipment
do not generate independent cash inflows and that the business
of the Parent Entity is, in its entirety, a cash-generating unit. The
recoverable amount of plant and equipment is thus determined to
be its fair value less costs to sell.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cashgenerating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. The asset
or cash-generating unit is then written down to its recoverable
amount. For plant and equipment, impairment losses are recognised
in the income statement as an expense.

Cost and valuation
De-recognition and disposal
Plant and equipment is stated at cost or deemed cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Such costs
include the cost of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalization
when the cost of replacing the parts is incurred. Similarly, when
each major inspection is performed, it’s costs is recognized in the
carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement only
if it is eligible for capitalization.
Land and buildings are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no further future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal.
Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised.

(p) Goodwill
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at
cost being the excess of the cost of the business combination over
the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.
Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the company’s cash-generating units, or groups of cashgenerating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the company are assigned to those units or groups
of units. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is so
allocated represents the lowest level within the company at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial
year-end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected
pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in
the asset are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or
method, as appropriate, which is a change in accounting estimate.
The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is
recognised in profit or loss in the expense category consistent with
the function of the intangible asset.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangibles are not amortised. The useful life of an
intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed each reporting
period to determine whether indefinite life assessment continues
to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment
from indefinite to finite is accounted for as a change in accounting
estimate and is thus accounted for on a prospective basis.
A summary of the policies applied to the Group’s intangible
assets is as follows:
Australian Football League (AFL) Licences

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units), to
which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. When
goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (or group of cashgenerating units) and an operation within that unit is disposed of,
the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included
in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain
or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this
manner is measured based on the relative values of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not subsequently
reversed.
(q) Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially measured at
cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets,
excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised
and expenditure is charged against profits in the year in which
the expenditure is incurred.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or infinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised
over the useful life and assessed for impairment whenever there

Useful lives
Indefinite (2005: Indefinite)
Amortisation method used
No amortisation
Internally generated or acquired
Acquired
Impairment testing
When an indication of impairment exists (2005: when an indication
of impairment exists)
(r) Impairment of assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required,
the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.
The directors have determined that individual assets or groups
of assets do not generate independent cash inflows and that the
business of the Company is, in its entirety, a cash-generating unit.
Accordingly, each asset is tested for impairment as part of the cashgenerating unit to which it belongs. When the carrying amount of
an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
the asset or cash-generating unit is considered impaired and is
written down to its recoverable amount.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Accounting policies applicable for the year ending 31 October 2006

(r) Impairment of assets (cont’d)

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of
the consideration received less any directly attributable transaction
costs.

An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether
there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses
may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since
the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.
That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is
recognised in profit or loss. After such a reversal the depreciation
charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised
carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis
over its remaining useful life.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised.
Accounting policies applicable for the year ending 31 October 2005
All loans were measured at the principal amount. Interest was
recognised as an expense as it accrued.
Bills of exchange and promissory notes are carried at the principle
amount plus deferred interest.

(s) Trade and other payables
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(u) Prepaid Rent - IPL
The Group has elected to apply the option available under AASB1
of adopting AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 1 November 2005.
Outlined below are the relevant accounting policies for trade and
other payables applicable for the years ending 31 October 2006
and 31 October 2005.

IPL has prepaid rent to the WAFC as a contribution to the
redevelopment of Subiaco Oval for the use of administration and
player facilities for a period of 25 years. The WAFC has deferred the
income and is amortising the deferred revenue over the 25 years.

Accounting policies applicable for the year ending 31 October 2006

(v) Unsecured Notes - IPL

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised costs
and represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the
Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and
arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments
in respect of the purchase of these goods and services.

The unsecured note liability is calculated by discounting the face
value of the notes at a rate of 15% from the latest possible date of
redemption. Redemption is at the discretion of the Directors’ prior
to the year 2075.

Accounting policies applicable for the year ending 31 October 2005

The difference between the face value of the notes and the amount
of the liability is recorded as an unsecured note redemption reserve
(Note 20(b)).

Trade payables and other payables are recognised for amounts to
be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or
not billed to the Group.

(w) Provisions

Payables to related parties are carried at the principal amount.
Interest, when charged by the lender, is recognised as an expense
on an accrual basis.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive), as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.

(t) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
The Group has elected to apply the option available under AASB1 of
adopting AASB132 and AASB139 from 1 November 2005. Outlined
below are the relevant accounting policies for interest-bearing loans
and borrowings applicable for the years ending 31 October 2006
and 31 October 2005.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed,
for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is
recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented
in the income statement net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the times value of money is material, provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pretax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
When the discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as a borrowing cost.
(x) Employee Benefits
(i) Wages, salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits, annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of
the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of
employees’ services up to the reporting date. They are measured
at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
Liabilities for sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and
are measured at the rates paid or payable.

(ii) Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for
employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected
future payments to be made in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit
method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary
levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of service.
Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at
the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to
maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the
estimated future cash outflows.
3. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The WAFC administers Football in one geographical segment
being Western Australia.
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Consolidated
Note
		

2006
$

WAFC Inc
2005
$

2006
$

2005		
$

4. REVENUES 					
Revenues from operating activities

74,734,669

69,675,471

7,956,185

10,305,998

Revenues from non operating activities
				
Amortisation of deferred revenue
3,198,307
2,367,326
3,198,307
1,698,307
Net royalty income
15,052
2,516,578
2,297,764
Rental income					
- Other corporations
2,333,698
949,030
2,333,698
949,030
- Wholly owned controlled entities
5,867,698
5,265,153
Interest income					
- Other corporations
1,145,466
778,033
148,350
158,367
Profit on sale of unsecured notes
1,034,300
87,609
Proceeds from Fremantle Football Foundation
2,250
AFL Distribution
600,000
615,000
Other income
824,531
2,766,545
254,439
3,201,431
83,873,221

77,254,066

22,275,255

23,876,050

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont'd)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 0CTOBER 2006
Consolidated

Note
		

2006
$

WAFC Inc
2005
$

2006
$

2005		
$

5. EXPENSES AND LOSSES/(GAINS)			
					
(a) Expenses					
				
Cost of goods and services provided
Match expenses
3,224,935
2,810,659
Membership expenses
3,363,374
3,457,380
Sponsorship expenses
1,481,535
1,003,047
Arena advertising expenses
34,600
33,009
Corporate box expenses
394,259
165,522
Coterie group expenses
1,513,390
1,287,134
Merchandise expenses
4,324,343
2,799,855
Functions and special events expenses
5,807,829
5,315,822
Total cost of goods and services provided
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Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation
Leasehold improvements
Furniture and equipment
Total depreciation

20,144,265

16,872,428

		
		
2,451,798
2,162,519
1,114,925
893,624
3,566,723
3,056,143

-

-

		
		
2,090,074
2,065,988
509,588
471,714
2,599,662
2,537,702

Operating lease					
Minimum lease payments
29,624
244,747
29,624
244,747
Borrowing costs expensed
Interest expense – other corporations
Doubtful debts expense/(write back)

		
1,969,851
2,806,389
58,994

b) Losses/(Gains)
(Profit)/loss on disposal of non current assets
(c) Significant items
Loan break costs
AFL distribution from Waverly Park sale

360,570

		
2,792,041

1,969,851
-

-

				
25,011

(1,477)

-

-

				
147,400
147,400
(600,000)
(600,000)
(600,000)

(452,600)

-

147,400

Consolidated
Note
		

2006
$

WAFC Inc
2005
$

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
				
(a) - Cash and deposits
11,750,381
20,379,224

2006
$

3,052,781

2005		
$

10,485,635

(b) Reconciliation of Cash Flow Statement
				
For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and
cash equivalents comprise the following at 31 October:					
Cash and deposits

11,750,381

20,379,224

3,052,781

10,485,635

(c) Reconciliation of the operating profit
to the net cash flows from operations					
Profit from ordinary activities

5,480,817

4,414,278

836,178

2,819,592

Adjustments for:					
Depreciation of fixed assets
3,566,723
3,056,143
2,599,662
2,537,702
(Profit)/Loss on disposal of non current assets
25,011
(1,477)
Provision for doubtful debts
58,994
341,700
Amortisation of deferred income
(3,198,307)
(2,367,236)
(3,198,307)
(1,698,307)
Changes in assets and liabilities					
Decrease in trade and other receivables
(1,604,549)
(2,405,576)
(2,340,693)
(790,934)
Decrease in inventory
(602,474)
(35,167)
Increase in creditors and deferred income
3,056,783
16,821,728
2,618,634
13,121,760
Increase in provisions
707,461
596,577
74,303
81,731
Net cash from operating activities

7,490,459

20,420,970

589,777

16,071,544
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Consolidated

Note
		

2006
$

WAFC Inc
2005
$

2006
$

2005		
$

7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 					
Trade debtors
Provision for doubtful debts

6,757,859
(423,724)

4,670,200
(523,603)

1,881,354
-

1,101,487
-

6,334,135

4,146,597

1,881,354

1,101,487

Sundry debtors
1,715,978
2,255,912
3,362,964
1,841,909
Prepayments
183,890
265,758
183,890
144,119
Amounts other than trade receivables from
related parties:					
Wholly owned group					
		 Indian Pacific Limited
1,341,923
2,243,288
		 Fremantle Football Club Limited – Other
151,033
206,588
8,234,003
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6,668,267

6,921,164

5,537,391

				
(a) Terms and conditions
Terms and conditions relating to the above
financial instruments:					
(i) Trade debtors are non interest bearing
and generally on 30 day terms.					
(ii) Sundry debtors and other receivables
are non interest bearing and have repayment
terms between 30 and 90 days.		
(iii) Details of the terms and conditions
of related parties are set out in note 22.					
8. INVENTORIES					
Items held for resale					
- At cost
1,128,725
526,251
1,128,725

526,251

-

-

Consolidated
Note
		

2006
$

WAFC Inc
2005
$

2006
$

2005		
$

9. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
					
Shares in Indian Pacific Ltd - at cost
2,110,945
2,110,945
Shares in Fremantle Football Club Ltd - at cost
1
1
Fixed interest investments – at fair value
6,170,293
Available for sale investments – at fair value
446,643
6,616,936
Investment in controlled entities comprises:
Name

Country of
incorporation

-

2,110,946

2,110,946

Beneficial interest held
by economic entity
2006
2005
$
$

Indian Pacific Limited
Aust (i)			
- Ordinary shares		
100%
100%
- Management share		
100%
100%
- West Coast Eagles Supporters Club Ltd (WCESC)
Aust (i)
100%
100%
Fremantle Football Club Limited
Aust (i)			
- Ordinary shares		
100%
100%
(i) controlled entity audited by Ernst & Young, Perth.				
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont'd)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 0CTOBER 2006
Consolidated

Note
		

2006
$

WAFC Inc
2005
$

2006
$

2005		
$

10. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING
THE EQUITY METHOD
Investment in Joint Venture Entity

14,455

Balance date
		

14,391

-

-

Ownership interest held by
consolidated entity
2006
2005

Investment held by Indian Pacific Limited
Sail WA Pty Ltd– ordinary shares
		

31 October

50%

50%

(i) Principal activity		
Sail WA is a joint venture company involved in marketing
and special functions in sport in Western Australia.		
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(ii) Share of joint venture:					
- revenues
- expenses
- net profit/(loss)

593
(529)
64

2,341			
(436)			
1,905			

(iii) Share of joint venture:					
- current assets
- non-current assets
- current liabilities
- non-current liabilities
- net liabilities

14,451
4
(26,000)
(11,545)

14,391			
-			
-			
(26,000)			
(11,609)			

(iv) Accumulated losses of the consolidated
entity attributable to the joint venture					
Balance at the beginning of the financial year
(11,609)
(13,514)			
Share of joint venture profit/(loss)
64
1,905			
Balance at the end of the financial year
(11,545)
(11,609)
					

Consolidated
Note
		

2006
$

WAFC Inc
2005
$

2006
$

2005		
$

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT					
Leasehold improvements – at cost
Accumulated amortisation

Property plant & equipment – at cost
Accumulated depreciation

77, 398,135
(22,147,623)

77,067,787
(19,695,825)

73,193,276
(21,008,535)

72,862,928
(18,918,461)

55,250,512

57,371,962

52,184,741

53,944,467

10,044,459
(7,039,750)

9,016,781
(5,924,825)

5,467,611
(3,838,825)

5,181,168
(3,329,237)

3,004,709

3,091,956

1,628,786

1,851,931

58,255,221

60,463,918

53,813,527

55,796,398

Leasehold improvements represent capital expenditure made by the WAFC on Subiaco Oval. The WAFC has an operating lease
over Subiaco Oval expiring on 27 February 2090. The payments due under the lease agreement are limited to the reimbursement of
maintenance costs of the Oval to the City of Subiaco.
(a) Assets pledged as security
Included in the balances of plant and equipment are assets used as security for various lending facilities entered into by the Commission.
(b) Reconciliations

				

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of leasehold improvements, and furniture and equipment at the beginning and end of the current
and previous financial year.					
					
				
Leasehold improvements
Carrying amount at beginning
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation expense

Property, plant and equipment
Carrying amount at beginning
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation expense

57,371,962
330,348
(2,451,798)

59,088,087
446,394
(2,162,519)

53,944,467
330,348
(2,090,074)

55,869,087
141,368
(2,065,988)

55,250,512

57,371,962

52,184,741

53,944,467

				
3,203,302
1,851,931
2,123,477
798,378
299,390
201,995
(16,100)
(12,947)
(1,827)
(893,624)
(509,588)
(471,714)

3,091,956
1,067,116
(39,438)
(1,114,925)
3,004,709

3,091,956

1,628,786

1,851,931
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont'd)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 0CTOBER 2006
Consolidated

Note
		

2006
$

WAFC Inc
2005
$

2006
$

2005		
$

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES					
Opening balance at 1 November
Additions
Disposals

267,000
1,262,761
(267,000)

267,000
-

1,262,761
-

-

Closing balance as at 31 October

1,262,761

267,000

1,262,761

-

Investment properties are stated at fair value, which has been determined based on current market valuations, The fair value represents
the amount at which the assets could be exchanged between a knowledgeable willing buyer and a knowledgeable willing seller in an arms
length transaction at the date of valuation, in accordance with Australian Valuations Standards.
13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS					
AFL licence

8,000,000

14. PAYABLES (CURRENT)
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8,000,000

-

-

				

Prepaid royalties from controlled entities			
Trade creditors
11(a)
4,916,611
Sundry creditors
11(a)
7,482,680
Deferred income
11(a)
4,971,168
		

17,370,459

916,766
5,890,121
5,913,385

100,000
1,541,052
3,937,602
3,198,307

100,000
988,830
2,805,057
1,327,640

12,720,272

8,776,961

5,221,527

				
(a) Terms and conditions
Terms and conditions relating to the above
financial instruments.				
(i) Trade creditors are non interest bearing and
are normally settled on 30 day terms.				
(ii) Sundry creditors are non interest bearing
and are settled within 1 year.				
(iii) Refer note 1(f) for details on the terms and
conditions of deferred income.
15. INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES (CURRENT)				
ANZ loan facility

18(a)(ii)

-

-

7,100,000

16. PROVISIONS (CURRENT)					
					
Employee entitlements		
2,160,565
1,421,549
277,462
Other		
180,364
150,466
-

219,506
-

		

219,506

2,340,929

7,100,000

1,572,015

277,462

Consolidated
Note
		

2006
$

WAFC Inc
2005
$

2006
$

2005		
$

17. PAYABLES (NON- CURRENT)					
Sundry creditors
14(a)
Deferred income
14(a)
14,918,792
Prepaid royalties from controlled entities
14(a)
			
		
14,918,792

3,289,371
19,382,383
13,437,074
300,000
		
19,382,383
17,026,445

20,761,552
400,000
21,161,552

				
				
(a) Terms and conditions
(i) Sundry creditors are non interest bearing and
are settled on a deferred basis over 4 years.					
(ii) Deferred revenue is recognised as each
payment becomes due and payable. It includes
- grant from the State Government as set
		
out under the terms of the Finance
		
Agreement between WAFC and the State; and
- prepaid sponsorship.					
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18. INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES (NON-CURRENT)			
Unsecured notes
ANZ loan facility

18(a)(i)
18(a)(ii)

236
10,406,348

203
10,406,348

10,406,348

10,406,348

		

10,406,584

10,406,551

10,406,348

10,406,348

(a) Terms and conditions
				
Terms and conditions relating to the above
financial instruments.				
(i) The unsecured notes are interest free,
repayable at the discretion of the directors up to
the year 2075 and in any event not repayable
before 30 June 2075. Each note has a full value
of $500 and 7,735 were issued as at balance date.
This figure has been arrived at by the application
of a discount rate of 15% to the date of redemption.
These notes are unsecured and as such there is no
collateral pledged as security.				
(ii) The ANZ loan facility comprises a $10.4 million
loan for 5 years (maximum rate payable 7.48%).
19. PROVISIONS (NON CURRENT)					
Employee entitlements

448,268

509,721

260,148

243,800

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont'd)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 0CTOBER 2006
Consolidated

Note
		

2006
$

WAFC Inc
2005
$

2006
$

2005		
$

20. RESERVES AND ACCUMULATED SURPLUS						
Other reserves
Unsecured notes redemption
Undistributable profits

17(a)
17(b)
17(c)

30,250
61,026
1,688,162

61,059
802,054

-

-

		

1,779,438

863,113

-

-

48,359,705

43,764,996

30,413,815

29,577,637

Accumulated surplus
(a) Other reserves
This reserve records movements in the fair
value of available for sale investments
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17(d)

					

(b) Unsecured notes redemption
					
					
(i) Nature and purpose of reserve
The unsecured note redemption reserve is used
to record the purchase price of unsecured notes
acquired by a controlled entity.						
					
(ii) Movements in reserve
Balance at the beginning of year		
61,059
61,087
Redemption of notes		

(33)

(28)

-

-

Balance at the end of year		

61,026

61,059

-

-

(c) Undistributable profits
					
					
(i) Nature and purpose of reserve
The undistributable profits reserve is
used to accumulate profits arising from
the West Coat Eagles Supporters Club.						
					
(ii) Movements in reserve
Balance at the beginning of year		
802,054
784,287
Current year result		
886,108
17,767
Balance at the end of year		

1,688,162

802,054

-

-

					
(d) Accumulated surplus
Balance at the beginning of year		
43,764,996
39,368,485
29,577,637
26,758,045
Net profit/(loss) attributable to WAFC		
5,480,817
4,414,278
836,178
2,819,592
Total available for appropriation		
49,245,813
43,782,763
30,413,815
29,577,637
Aggregate of amounts transferred to
undistributable profits reserve		
(886,108)
(17,767)
Balance at the end of year		

48,359,705

43,764,996

30,413,815

29,577,637

Consolidated
Note
		

2006
$

WAFC Inc
2005
$

2006
$

2005		
$

21. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS					
Lease expenditure commitments					
Operating lease expenditure commitments:					
- Not later than one year
29,624
29,624
- Later than one year and not later than five years
-

29,624

-

29,624

22. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(a) The WAFC Commissioners during the year ended 31 October 2006 were:
B Beresford
T Lyons

R Kelly		 N Fong		
R Gloede		 I Taylor

WAFC has a receivable from N Fong of $5,000 to which at date of signing has been repaid.
(b) The WAFC receive a royalty from IPL and FFC. IPL and FFC use the assets of the WAFC under a sub-licence agreement whereby
football teams participate in AFL competition. Amounts received under the sub-licence agreement during 2006 are as follows:
2006
2005
$
$
			
IPL
2,516,578
2,297,764
FFC
			
2,516,578
2,297,764
(c) IPL and FFC use the football assets of the WAFC under a facility agreement. Amounts received under this agreement were
as follows:
2006
$
		
IPL
2,972,500
FFC
2,500,000

2005
$
2,900,000
2,250,000

5,472,500

5,150,000
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont'd)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 0CTOBER 2006

22. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (cont’d)
(d) In their role as commissioners, the following football related benefits were provided by the WAFC to the commissioners, for the year
ended 31 October 2006.

T Lyons
N Fong
R Gloede
I Taylor
R Kelly
B Beresford

2006
$

2005
$

3,788
4,662
2,063
2,019
2,038
2,019

3,128
3,222
3,128
2,489
1,828
3,139

The Commissioners are required to attend certain games during the year as part of their duties. The associated costs of travel and
accommodation are not included in the above benefits.
The benefits applicable to Commissioners for 2006 and beyond are travel and accommodation costs for their spouse/partner to the AFL
grand final.
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23. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Western Force has signed a two year agreement with the WAFC to continue playing Super 14 home games at Subiaco Oval
commencing in the 2007 season. The agreement also provides an option for a third year in 2009.
In December, three new Commissioners were elected to the Board of Commissioners thereby extending by one the Board to seven
members. Tim Lyons and Brian Beresford having completed their terms did not seek reelection.
The WAFC has been in discussions with the State Government via the Major Stadium Taskforce for the past 12 months as to the
future of the major sports stadium in Perth. The discussions have centered on potential redevelopment of the current facility along
with options for a brand new stadium at some point in the future. The WAFC’s current lease expires in 2090 and as such expects to
be no worse off than the current arrangements. It is not possible currently to identify exactly how different options will impact WAFC
financially other than to note that discussions are ongoing.

Consolidated
Note
		

2006
$

WAFC Inc
2005
$

2006
$

2005		
$

24. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION					
Amounts received or due and receivable
by Ernst & Young Australia for:					
- an audit or review of the financial report of the
entity and any other entity in the consolidated entity
111,384
86,950
32,500
25,000
- other services in relation to the entity and any
other entity in the consolidated entity

* Other services relate to other audits
(e.g. player payments, grants and AIFRS)

36,673

13,900

7,500

6,500

148,057

100,850

40,000

31,500

31 October
2005
$

31 October
2006
$

31 October
2005
$

31 October
2006
$

31 October
2005
$

31 October
2006
$

31 October
2005
$

31 October
2006
$

31 October
2005
$

31 October
2006
$

31 October
2005
$

Total carrying amount as
per the balance sheet

31 October
2006
%

31 October
2005
%

Weighted average
effective interest rate

20,379,224

-

-

20,379,224

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

6,334,135
1,979,868

8,314,003

-

-

-

6,497,985

2,351,388

4,146,597

20,064,384

1,979,868

6,334,135

N/a

N/a

5.0%

N/a

N/a

4.9%

26,877,209			

2,351,388

4,146,597

11,750,381 20,379,224

-

-

ANZ loan facility

Unsecured notes

Liabilities

Total Financial

Fremantle

-

-

-

Unsecured Loans

Loan – City of

-

Payables

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

7,100,000 10,406,348

-

-

7,100,000 10,406,348

-

-

10,406,348

-

-

10,406,348

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

12,604,042
236
-

12,604,042

-

-

7,418,352

-

200

-

-

7,418,352

23,010,626

-

236

10,406,348

-

12,604,042

24,924,900

-

200

17,506,348

1,712,781

7,418,352

N/a

N/a

6.98%

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

6.98%

8.5%

N/a

Liabilities															

Financial

Assets

11,750,381

-

Other receivables

Total Financial

-

11,750,381

Trade receivables

Cash assets

Financial Assets															

31 October
2006
$

Floating interest rate
1 year or less
Over 1 to 5 years
More than 5 years
Non-interest Bearing
						

Fixed interest rate maturing in:

(a) Interest Rate Risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risks and the effective interest rates of financial assets and financial liabilities, both recognised and unrecognised at the balance date, are as follows:

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
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Total Carrying amount as per
the balance sheet
Note
		

2006
$

2005
$

Aggregate net fair
value (i), (ii)
2006
$

2005		
$

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont)
(b) Net Fair Values
Financial Assets					
Cash assets
Trade Receivables
Other Receivables

11,750,381
6,334,135
1,979,868

20,379,224
4,146,597
2,351,388

11,750,381
6,334,135
1,979,868

20,379,224
4,146,597
2,351,388

Total Financial Assets

20,064,384

26,877,209

20,064,384

26,877,209

Financial Liabilities					
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Payables
Unsecured Notes
ANZ Bank Facility

12,604,042
236
10,406,348

7,418,352
200
17,506,348

12,604,042
236
10,406,348

7,418,352
200
17,506,348

Total Financial Liabilities

23,010,626

24,924,900

23,010,626

24,924,900

(c) Fair values
The following methods and assumptions are used to determine the net fair values of financial assets and liabilities
Cash, cash equivalents and short term investments: The carrying amount approximates fair value because of their short-term to maturity.
Trade receivables and payables: The carrying amount approximates fair value because of their short-term to maturity.
Unsecured notes: The carrying amount approximates fair value.
(d) Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise bank loans, finance leases and cash and short-term
deposits.
Credit risk
The Group’s maximum exposures to credit risk at balance date in relation to each class of recognised financial asset is the carrying
value of those assets as indicated in the Balance Sheet.
The company minimises concentrations of credit risk in relation to trade accounts receivable by undertaking transactions with a number
of low risk customers through sponsorship, member’s fees and government grants.
Cash flow interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt obligations with a
floating interest rate.

26. TRANSITION TO AIFRS
For all periods up to and including the year ended 31 October 2005, the Group prepared its financial statements in accordance with
Australian generally accepted accounting practice (AGAAP). These financial statements for the year ended 31 October 2006 are the first
the Company is required to prepare in accordance with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS).
Accordingly, the Group has prepared financial statements that comply with AIFRS applicable for periods beginning on or after 1
January 2005 and the significant accounting policies meeting those requirements are described in Note 2. In preparing these financial
statements, the Group has started from an opening balance sheet as at 1 November 2004, the Group’s date of transition to AIFRS, and
made those changes in accounting policies and other restatements required by AASB1 First-time adoption of AIFRS.
This note explains the principal adjustments made by the Group in restating its AGAAP balance sheet as at 1 November 2004 and its
previously published AGAAP financial statements for the year ended 31 October 2005.
Exemptions applied
AASB 1 allows first-time adopters certain exceptions from the general requirement to apply AIFRS retrospectively.
The Company has taken the following exemptions:
• Comparative information for financial instruments is prepared in accordance with AGAAP and the company has adopted AASB132:
Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and AASB132: Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Measurement from 1
November 2005.
Explanation of material differences and reconciliation of total equity as presented under AGAAP to that under AIFRS
(i)
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Reconciliation of total equity as presented under AGAAP to that under AIFRS;

Consolidated
		
Total equity under AGAAP
Adjustments to Equity:

31 October
2005

Parent

1 November
2004

31 October
2005

1 November
2004

45,296,992

41,593,205

29,458,835

27,116,580

84,062

-

-

-

129,637

-

-

-

(1,131,021)

(1,131,021)

-

-

-

-

(129,637)

(110,182)

(224,318)

(248,353)

(224,318)

(248,353)

CUB revenue

(94,822)

-

(94,822)

-

Ticketmaster revenue

(16,842)

-

(16,842)

-

State Grant

584,421

-

584,421

-

44,628,109

40,213,831

29,577,637

26,758,045

			

Write back goodwill amortisation
Write back WCE prepaid rent
Goodwill written off on transition
WCE prepaid rent – AASB 118
Mustard Catering revenue

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont'd)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 0CTOBER 2006

26. TRANSITION TO AIFRS (cont’d)
Explanation of material differences and reconciliation of profit/(loss) after tax under AGAAP to that under AIFRS
(ii) Reconciliation of profit after tax as presented under AGAAP to that under AIFRS

Consolidated
31 October 2005

Parent
31 October 2005

Profit after tax as previously reported
3,703,787
2,342,255
			
Write back of goodwill amortisation
84,062
Write back of WCE prepaid rent
129,637
WCE Prepaid rent – AASB 118
(19,455)
Mustard Catering revenue
24,035
24,035
CUB revenue
(94,822)
(94,822)
Ticketmaster revenue
(16,842)
(16,842)
State Grant
584,421
584,421
			
4,414,278
2,819,592
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Explanation of material adjustment to the cash flow statements under AGAAP to that of AIFRS
There are no material differences between the cash flow statements presented under AIFRS and those presented under AGAAP

